

Review

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Hazardous Materials



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jhazmat

Single and combined effects of nickel (Ni(II)) and cobalt (Co(II)) ions on activated sludge and on other aerobic microorganisms: A review

Petros Gikas^{a,b,*}

^a Ministry of Environmental Planning and Public Works, General Secretariat of Public Works, Special Service of Public Works for Greater Athens Sewerage and Sewage Treatment, and Central Water Agency, Varvaki 12, Athens 11474, Greece

^b Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of California at Davis, One Shields Avenue, Engineering III, Davis, CA 95616, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 September 2007 Received in revised form 16 February 2008 Accepted 19 February 2008 Available online 23 February 2008

Keywords: Nickel Cobalt Activated sludge Microorganisms Metal toxicity Growth stimulation

Contents

ABSTRACT

Nickel (N(II)) and cobalt (Co(II)) are often encountered in wastewaters. As conventional wastewater treatment may only partially remove nickel and cobalt, a large fraction of the above metals is released to the aquatic environment. Both metals have been identified as micronutrients, at trace concentrations; however, they are both microbial growth inhibitors, at relatively high concentrations. On the other hand, the combined effects (e.g.: growth stimulation or toxicity) of the above metals have been found to differ from the summation of the effects which occur when the metals are applied individually. Moreover, a number of environmental factors (e.g.: pH, biomedium composition, biomass concentration, presence of other heavy metals) can affect the microbial toxicity of the above metallic species. The present review discusses, in a systematic way, the individual and joint effects of the above heavy metals to the growth of microorganisms grown under aerobic conditions, with focus on the growth of activated sludge. Data on multi-metal toxicity are particularly useful in establishing criteria for heavy metal tolerance levels in the environment.

© 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1.	Intro	luction	188
	1.1.	Assessment of metal toxicity	188
	1.2.	Multi-metal toxicity	188
	1.3.	Nickel and cobalt in the environment	189
	1.4.	The biological role of nickel and cobalt	189
	1.5.	Scope	189
2.	Effect	ts of nickel	190
	2.1.	Effects of Ni(II) on activated sludge	190
	2.2.	Effects of Ni(II) on particular aerobic microorganisms	192
	2.3.	Ni(II) tolerant microorganisms	193
	2.4.	Effects of Ni(II) on the chemolithotrophic growth of microorganisms	194
	2.5.	Combined effects of Ni(II) with other environmental factors on aerobic microorganisms	194
3.	Effect	ts of Co(II)	195
	3.1.	Effects of Co(II) on activated sludge	195
	3.2.	Effects of Co(II) on particular aerobic microorganisms	196
	3.3.	Co tolerant microorganisms	197
	3.4.	Effects of Co(II) on the chemolithotrophic growth of microorganisms	197
	3.5.	Combined effects of Co(II) with other environmental factors on aerobic microorganisms	197
4.	Comp	parative effects of individual Ni(II) and Co(II) on the same microbial systems	198
	4.1.	Comparative effects of Ni(II) and Co(II) on activated sludge	198
	4.2.	Comparative effects of Ni(II) and Co(II) on particular aerobic microorganisms	198

 ^{*} Present address: Department of Environmental Engineering, Technical University of Crete, 73100 Chania, Greece. Tel.: +30 210 6444410; fax: +30 210 6452753. *E-mail address:* petrosgikas@gmail.com.

^{0304-3894/\$ -} see front matter © 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.02.048

5.	Effects of joint Ni(II) and Co(II)	199
	5.1. Effects of joint Ni(II) and Co(II) on activated sludge	199
	5.2. Effects of joint Ni(II) and Co(II) on particular aerobic microorganisms	199
6.	Summary: literature evaluation	200
	References	200

1. Introduction

Zero-valent heavy metals are considered as having no biological activity, however, simple or complex forms of ionized heavy metals can dramatically affect the performance of biological systems. Trace amounts of so called "essential" heavy metals (such as Fe, Zn, Ni, Cu, Co) have been found to stimulate microbial growth, while no beneficial biochemical role has been assessed, up to now, for other ones (like Hg, Ag, Cd, As, Au), which are considered as "non-essential" substances [1]. The main biochemical roles of the "essential" heavy metals comprise in the: (i) catalysis of biochemical reactions, (ii) stabilization of proteins, (iii) regulation of gene expression and (iv) control of osmotic pressure gradients across various microbial membranes [2]. The presence of some heavy metals is indispensable for the evolvement of particular biochemical pathways [3], while some microorganisms fail to grow at the absence of selected heavy metals [4,5]. The beneficial effects of trace amounts of heavy metals on the biodegradation of various wastewaters has been demonstrated by a number of researchers [6,7], while addition of selected heavy metals has been practiced for the enhancement of the bio-treatment of "weak" wastewaters, such as graywater [8]. On the other hand, increased concentrations of either "essential" or "non-essential" heavy metals have as a result the reduction of the biological activity of the microorganisms, and finally the total containment of the microbial growth [9-12].

The relative response of microorganisms to the presence of heavy metals has been graphically demonstrated quite elegantly by McCarthy [13] (Fig. 1), who proposed the categorization of the effects into three zones, with respect to the heavy metal concentration: (i) zone of increasing stimulation, (ii) zone of decreasing stimulation and (iii) toxicity zone. The significance of the identification of the growth response curve as a function of heavy metal concentration is obvious; however, a number of environmental factors, such as pH [14,15], metal speciation [16], mixed liquid suspended solids (MLSS) concentration [17], age of the culture (activated sludge age) [17,18], presence and concentration of other heavy metals [11,12,19,20] or of other active or phenomenaly inert substances [21,22] can influence the shape of the curve.

Another factor which can affect the shape of the above curve is the "history" of the microbial culture with respect to contact with the particular heavy metal. Ginn et al. [23] have proposed that the toxic effects of heavy metals to the growth of microbial cultures are not just a function of the heavy metal concentration, but they are dependant on the cumulative contact time. However, prolonged heavy metal-microorganism contact times may result into microbial acclimation to the particular heavy metal; thus, acclimatized microorganisms can ultimately grow at significantly higher heavy metal concentrations, compared with the same unacclimatized microbial strains [24-26]. Repeated sub-cultivations of a microorganism to increased concentrations of heavy metals may allow the isolation of heavy metal-tolerant mutants [20]. The adaptation of acclimatized microorganisms to relatively high heavy metal concentrations has often been attributed to the activation of alternative biochemical pathways which allow cells to continue growing [27]. Barndt et al. [28] have proposed a mathematical model to simulate microbial adaptation to unfavourable environmental conditions, which could be modified to describe microbial adaptation to the presence of heavy metals.

It is worth mentioning that the resistance of microorganisms to heavy metals has been proved to be genetically oriented, either due to chromosomal or more commonly due to plasmid determinants [29–31]. "Essential" metal resistance mechanisms are usually chromosome-based, and more complex than plasmid-based, which usually are encoded systems for the efflux of toxic concentrations of metals [32].

1.1. Assessment of metal toxicity

A number of methods have been proposed for measuring metal toxicity in microbial systems [33], the more commonly used include the measurement of the enzymatic activity [34,35], the measurement of the respiratory rate [36,37], the assessment of various growth parameters [11,38–40], the measurement of cell viability via plate counting [41,42] and the use of fluorescent and bioluminescence methods [43,44]. The above methods usually indicate the same qualitative trends, regarding the effects of particular heavy metals on microbial growth, however, the rule is that generally they are not in agreement with respect to the quantitative effects [44]. Codina et al. [45], who investigated the toxicity of several heavy metals on Pseudomonas fluorescens, concluded that the toxic doses $(EC_{50} \text{ and } EC_{20} \text{ values})$ are a strong function of the toxicity test utilized. Thus, particular care should be exercised when comparing data obtained by the use of different methods, even if they are referred to the same microbial system.

A number of environmental factors may influence the effects of a particular heavy metal on a microbial system. Apart from physical parameters, such as temperature [46], which can obviously affect the toxicity of heavy metals, the chemical background often affects significantly the biological actions of heavy metals. The quantity [34] and type [47,48] of substrate, the presence of specific chemical substances [49,50], the heavy metal speciation [51,52] and the presence of other heavy metals (see next paragraph) can influence considerably the effects on the microbial system.

1.2. Multi-metal toxicity

The pattern of the effect of any biologically active substance is usually also a function of the presence of other biologically active substances at the environment of the microorganisms. Thus, apart from the distinct case according to which the effect of two combined substances is the sum of the effects of each substance individually applied, termed the "additive" case [20,53], two other type of interactions may occur. Either the combined effect is greater than the sum of the effects of the substances applied individually (synergism) [12,54], or vice versa (antagonism) [55,56]. Understanding the type of interaction between two (or more) heavy metals with the microbial system is of vital importance for all those who are dealing with the growth of microbial cultures at environments contaminated with heavy metals [57], such as aquatic systems, soils or biological treatment plants. It is obvious that heavy metal interactions (particularly synergism) have to be assessed for the establishment of the tolerance levels of metals in the environment. However, the relative environmental legislations, in most countries, have set the maximum acceptable heavy metal concentrations in the aquatic environment for each heavy metal alone,



Fig. 1. The effects of heavy metal concentration to the microbial growth (adapted from McCarthy [13]).

regardless of the presence of other metals at the examined aquatic environment. This is unfortunate because metals as contaminants rarely occur in isolation. A bright exemption comes from Australia and New Zealand, which have already established basic criteria for multiple toxicity [58], assuming additive effects. However, mainly due to the lack of data, the legislation has a long way to go before it enacts on the assessment of multi-metal toxicity, by taking into account the interactions of multiple metals with (micro)organisms.

Several methods have been proposed to predict the effects of multiple substances on a biological system, the most popular of which are the method of concentration addition (or effect summation) and the method of response addition. According to the first, the effects of combined doses of more than one biologically active substances is compared with the effect of each substance applied individually to the examined biological system [54,59,60]. Despite the popularity of the above method, it can be correctly applied only if the dose-response curves of the individual substances follow a linear pattern (which is not the norm in biological systems) [61]. The second of the above-mentioned methods is based on the comparison of the equi-effective concentrations (i.e.: the concentrations which yield the same effect) of the individual substances and their mixtures, which leads to more realistic conclusions [62,63]. This approach is utilized by the isobole method, which has been extensively applied in pharmacological studies [64,65], but can successfully describe multi-metal toxicity in microbial systems [12]. The isobole method was originally introduced as a graphical tool by Fraser [66,67], and was further developed by Loewe and Muischnek [68], Loewe [69] and Berenbaum [70].

1.3. Nickel and cobalt in the environment

Both, nickel and cobalt are used in the metallurgical industry, for the production of high quality iron-based alloys. They are also used extensively as catalysts in the chemical and food industry, as prime materials for the production of paints and batteries, and in the electroplating industry [71]. Due to the extensive use of nickel and cobalt, it is likely that a considerable amount of the above metals will find its way to the aquatic environment or to biological wastewater treatment plants. Leakages from naturally occurring minerals, rich in the above metals, comprise an extra source of nickel and cobalt to the aquatic environment. It is the rule that the above metals are occurring jointly in the environment [72,73], thus data on the joint toxicity of nickel and cobalt are considered particularly useful.

Both metals are encountered in aqueous solutions as di-valent (Ni(II), Co(II)), while they can occasionally be encountered in com-

plex forms as tri-valent (Ni(III), Co(III)) [74]. The last can be reduced biochemically (usually under anaerobic conditions) into the divalent species within the cells [75–77]. The effects of the trivalent ions to microorganisms are not assessed by the present review.

1.4. The biological role of nickel and cobalt

Both nickel and cobalt belong to the so called "essential" metals [27,78,79]. Up to date, nickel has been identified as a component in a number of enzymes, participating in important metabolic reactions, such as: ureolysis, hydrogen metabolism, methane biogenesis and acitogenesis [80–84]. Nickel has also been identified as a component of a superoxide dismutase protein [85]. A number of studies have identified nickel as trace element in various biological systems [80,86], while some microorganisms (like the cyanobacterium *Oscillatoria* sp. [4]) have demonstrated an absolute metabolic requirement for nickel. Nickel has also been identified as an indispensable element for the chemilithotropic growth of a number of microorganisms, like *Pseudomonas flava* [87].

Cobalt is an important co-factor in vitamin B_{12} -depended enzymes [88,89], and an indispensable component in a number of enzymes [90], and particularly in the nitrile hydratases [91]. Cobalt has also been found to stimulate the activity of some microbial enzymes, such as clostridiopetidase-A [92].

Both, nickel and cobalt have been identified as trace elements in anaerobic biochemical reactions [93–95], however, anaerobic microbial growth is not discussed in the present review article.

Nickel and cobalt resistant genes are often encountered in the same plasmid of nickel–cobalt resistant microorganisms [96–98]. It is worth to note that similar types of biochemical transportation mechanisms have been identified for both metal species [99].

Like all the essential elements, nickel and cobalt often stimulate the microbial growth, at relatively low concentrations; however, both metals are toxic at relatively high concentrations [7,8,12,95,100–103].

1.5. Scope

The present review aims in presenting in a systematic way the published research on the effects of individual and joint nickel (Ni(II)) and cobalt (Co(II)) on the growth of microorganisms growing under aerobic conditions, with emphasis on activated sludge systems. The review also deals with the effects of nickel and/or cobalt on particular aerobic microbial species, in conjunction with other environmental factors. The present review does not emphasise on either the biochemical mechanisms for nickel or cobalt



Fig. 2. The effects of Ni(II) concentration to the growth of the cyanobacterium *Oscillatoria* sp. No growth was sustained at the absence of nickel (adopted from Van Baalen and O'Donnell [4]).

tolerance by the microorganisms, nor on the phenomenon of bioaccumulation/bioremediation of the above metal species by microbes.

2. Effects of nickel

Nickel has been identified as a trace element (see Section 1.4). This is reflected in a number of experimental studies, which indicate microbial growth stimulation at relatively low nickel concentrations. An extreme example has been reported by Van Baalen and O'Donnell [4], who reported that the cyanobacterium *Oscillatoria* sp. was not able to grow at the absence of nickel (see Fig. 2). Nickel has also been identified as an indispensable element for the chemolithotrophic growth of a number of microbial species [87,104,105].

2.1. Effects of Ni(II) on activated sludge

Nickel is commonly present in municipal wastewater in trace concentrations. Results reported by Maeda and Azumi [106] indicate that nickel concentration in an activated sludge wastewater treatment plant varied between the detection limit and 0.08 mg g^{-1} (MLSS) (mixed liquid suspended solids), with average value and standard deviation 0.04 mg g^{-1} (MLSS) (same value). Gikas [12] measured the concentration of nickel in raw municipal wastewater and at the overflow after primary clarification as 0.038 and 0.025 mg L^{-1} , respectively. However, the above values are based on grab samples, and potentially they may not reflect the average nickel concentrations.

In small concentrations (usually below 5 mg L^{-1}), nickel has been found to enhance the growth of activated sludge and the organic carbon removal efficiency. Higher concentrations are usually having severe effects on the performance of the activated sludge systems, which can lead to complete containment to microbial growth.

Research carried out by Sujarittanonta and Sherrard [34], who worked with activated sludge growing in a continuous bioreactor set up, indicates that addition of 1 or $5 \operatorname{mg}(\operatorname{Ni}(\operatorname{II})) \operatorname{L}^{-1}$, enhanced, both, the maximum biomass yield (Y_{m}) and the maintenance coefficient (*b*) of activated sludge. They also reported that the values of the above parameters (Y_{m} and *b*) are a function of the inlet COD:Ni(II) concentration ratio (where chemical oxygen demand (COD) represents substrate). However, no significant effect to the COD removal efficiency due to the addition of nickel was recorded, while the nitrification process was significantly suppressed even by the addition of $1 \operatorname{mg}(\operatorname{Ni}(\mathrm{II})) \operatorname{L}^{-1}$, for low COD:Ni(II) ratios. They attributed the above effects either to the stimulatory of the microbial activity, or to changes in the microbial populations in activated sludge. The above researchers have proposed an empirical equa-

Table 1

Biokinetic parameters and mixed liquid suspended solids (MLSS) concentration for activated sludge growing in a continuous system, at different inlet Ni(II) concentrations (from Yetis and Gokcay [107])

Ni(II) inlet conc. (mg L ⁻¹)	$\mu_{ m max}$ (h ⁻¹)	$K_{\rm s}$ (mg L ⁻¹)	MLSS conc. (mg L ⁻¹)
0.0	0.31	85	400
5.0	0.67	97	950
10.0	0.32	105	600
25.0		Unstable ope	eration

tion to predict the degree of nitrification in activated sludge at the presence of nickel. However, the validity of the proposed equation is questionable, as it is based only in data obtained using three COD:Ni(II)) ratios.

Yetis and Gokcay [107], and Gokcay and Yetis [103], also studied the effects of Ni(II) addition on the performance of a continuous activated sludge system. The experimental results are summarized in Table 1. From Table 1, is obvious that addition of $5 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II}))L^{-1}$, results in dupling of the MLSS concentration and in significant increase of the maximum growth rate (μ_{max}) with the increase of nickel concentration from nil to 5 mg L⁻¹, while further increase of the inlet Ni(II) concentration to 10 mg L⁻¹, resulted to a μ_{max} value close to the baseline value (zero Ni(II) concentration). Additionally, they noted improved sludge settling characteristics (compared to the blank) when the inlet Ni(II) concentration was 5 mg L^{-1} . They did not provide an explanation about the last observation, but this probably was due to the selective toxic effects of nickel to the growth of filamentous microorganisms (see reference [108]). Finally, they observed unstable growth when the inlet Ni(II) concentration was increased to 25 mg L^{-1} . However, despite the comprehensive analysis by the above researchers, they did not check the performance of the system at the reverse order (e.g.: starting with $10 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II}))L^{-1}$, followed by $5 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II}))L^{-1}$, and finally by nickel free feed). However, they effectively controlled wall growth, which can affect the microbial growth behavior in such types continuous systems [109].

Gikas [12] who studied the effects of Ni(II) on the maximum growth rate (μ_{max}) of activated sludge, growing in a modified batch system, reported growth stimulation for Ni(II) concentrations up to approximately 27 mg L^{-1} . Further increase of the Ni(II) concentration resulted to growth inhibition, while no growth (during the time of the experiment) was observed for Ni(II) concentrations higher that 160 mg L⁻¹. Maximum growth stimulation was achieved at approximately $10 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$, at which point the maximum specific growth rate (μ_{max}) was measured approximately 18.5% higher, compared with the baseline. The effects of Ni(II) concentration on activated sludge are graphically depicted in Fig. 3a and b. Gikas [12] also reported a significant increase in lag times for Ni(II) concentrations higher than 40 mg L^{-1} , while a small decrease in lag time (compared to the blank) was observed for Ni(II) concentration of 1 mg L⁻¹. Working with a similar system, but with activated sludge from a different source, Gikas and Romanos [110] reported increased activated sludge $\mu_{\rm max}$ values for Ni(II) concentrations up to about 40 mg L^{-1} , while a weak growth was observed even at the presence of $320 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$. Batch systems have in general higher resistance in toxic loads, since they are not susceptive to washing out (like continuous suspended cell systems). Moreover, the above researcher used a modified batch growth system, with continuous aeration, which may be the reason for the relatively high nickel concentrations tolerated by the mixed population.

Arican and Yetis [111] examined the effect of increasing Ni(II) concentration on activated sludge growing in a "once-through completely mixed tank reactor", at a dilution rate $0.11 h^{-1}$. They observed significant increase of the COD removal rate, MLSS concentration and observed biomass yield, with a stepwise rise of



Fig. 3. (a) Calculated values of μ_{max} vs. the concentrations of Ni(II), Co(II) and mixtures: 1:3, 1:1 and 3:1, Ni(II):Co(II) (w/w); (b) detail for concentrations up to 35 mg L⁻¹. The equi-concentrations (which produce the same effects at each studied case) and the relative responses appear with small fonts at the *X*- and *Y*-axes (adopted from Gikas [12]).

Ni(II) concentration from 0 to 85.2 μ mol L⁻¹ (=5 mg L⁻¹). They also reported a significant increase in nickel sorption by the biomass, with the increase in the inlet Ni(II) concentration. The primary aim in the above research was the study of nickel sorption by activated sludge, and not the investigation of the effects of nickel concentration to the growth of activated sludge. The conclusions would have been more powerful if the reverse order of nickel concentrations were also contacted (from high to low nickel concentrations), to investigate if adaptation to higher nickel concentrations would alter the posterior effects of smaller nickel concentrations.

On the other hand, a number of researchers have reported only inhibition to the growth of activated sludge, due to the presence of Ni(II), as opposed to enhancement of growth at small nickel concentrations. Research carried out by McDermott et al. [112] indicates that a continuous mode activated sludge plant was able to withstand the addition of 1 mg(Ni(II))L⁻¹ in the feed solution, however, addition of 2.5, 5 or 10 mg L⁻¹ of Ni(II) resulted to up to 5% reduction of the biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) removal efficiency. They also reported that a slug dose of 200 mg L⁻¹ caused serious reduction to the treatment efficiency for a few hours, but within 40 h the system had returned to its normal performance.

Research performed by Ong et al. [108] indicated that the specific oxygen uptake rate (SOUR) of activated sludge, growing in a continuous system, reduced by 20%, 30% and 55%, compared to the baseline, with the acute addition of 10, 35 and $90-150 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II}))\text{L}^{-1}$, respectively. The above researchers [108]

also operated a sequence batch reactor (SBR) for activated sludge growth, reporting 23% and 22% reduction in the specific oxygen uptake rate and in the total organic carbon (TOC) removal rate, respectively, with the addition of $5 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$ in the inlet steam. SOUR and TOC values, respectively, reduced by 57% and 51%, at 10 mg(Ni(II)) L⁻¹. In all cases, they reported complete recovery of the system with the suspension of the Ni(II) supply. Microscopic examination of the sludge indicated the elimination of filamentous microorganisms with the addition of Ni(II) (which appear to be more sensitive to the presence of nickel, compared with other microorganisms), which macroscopically reflected with improved sludge volume index (SVI) values. The main advance of the above experimental set up was the use of an identical reactor (without the use of nickel) which was operated in parallel with the primary reactor. The results are supported by electron microscopy, while the performance of the system was also checked after the termination of nickel dosing.

Wong et al. [113], who measured the respiration rate of activated sludge at the presence of nickel, reported a steady reduction from 0.218 to $0.105 \text{ mg}(O_2) \text{ L}^{-1} \text{ min}^{-1}$, with increasing Ni(II) concentration from 0 to 23 mg L⁻¹ (which corresponds to 51.92% growth inhibition) (see Fig. 4). However, the main aim of the above research was the evaluation of a novel heavy metal toxicity methodology (they experimented with six heavy metal ions), rather than the study of the effects of nickel concentration to activated sludge. The EC₅₀ values for activated sludge at the presence of Ni(II), have been

Table 2a

 $\label{eq:effect} Effect of Ni(II) \ concentration to the biochemical oxidation (expressed as percentage of control BOD_5) of municipal wastewater (from Heukelekian and Gellman [114])$

Time (days)	Nickel concentration (mg L ⁻¹)						
	0	5	10	25	50		
1	57	8	8	8	5		
1.25	63	23	11	8	5		
2	80	62	48	8	5		
3	90	70	61	8	5		
4	96	74	65	8	5		
5	100	76	68	8	5		

Table 2b

Effect of Ni(II) concentration to the biochemical oxidation (expressed as percentage of control 22 h-BOD) of municipal wastewater, inoculated with $2 \text{ mg}(\text{MLSS}) L^{-1}$ of activated sludge (from Heukelekian and Gellman [114])

Time (h)	Nickel o	Nickel concentration (mg L ⁻¹)						
	0	5	10	25	50	100		
1	9	7	6	6	5	5		
2	15	12	10	9	8	8		
4	31	24	19	16	13	12		
6	40	33	24	18	14	13		
22	100	88	68	42	27	21		

estimated by Kelly et al. [44]. They [44] reported EC_{50} value over 100 and 76 mg L⁻¹, by the use of bioluminescence and SOUR method, respectively. This discrepancy indicates the influence of the measuring procedure to the quantification of the toxic effects of heavy metals to microbial growth (similar variations were also reported by the same manuscript for other heavy metals).

Heukelekian and Gellman [114] monitored the effects of several heavy metals to the biodegradation of sewage, using a Warburg apparatus (manometric respirometer), which allowed the measurement of oxygen consumption with incubation time. The relative experimental results are summarized in Table 2a. They [114] also examined the effect of Ni(II) addition to a mixture of sewage and activated sludge. In the last case they observed microbial growth at significantly higher Ni(II) concentrations (see Table 2b). They attributed the above observed differences on the greater concentration of organisms and organic residues in the later experimental set up. Despite the fact that the above study conducted more than 50 years ago, it has examined the effects of nickel (as well as the effects of other heavy metals) to sewage microorganisms in a systematic way. The comparison between seeded and raw wastewater is particularly useful, indicating the role of microbial concentration on the microbial intoxication by heavy metals. More recently, the EC₅₀ value of activated sludge, due to the addition of Ni(II), has been measured respirometrically



Fig. 4. The effect of nickel concentration on the respiration rate $(mg O_2 L^{-1} min^{-1})$ and to the percentage growth inhibition for activated sludge (Wong et al. [113]).

as $33 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II}))\text{L}^{-1}$ [115]. However, the same research team has reported that the EC₅₀ value of activated sludge is a strong function of the type of substrate, as it has been found to increase from $33 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II}))\text{L}^{-1}$ for growth on peptone-meat extract to 145 and $180 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II}))\text{L}^{-1}$ when starch-acetic acid or glucose are used as carbon sources, respectively [48]. Finally, Mowat [37], who measured the respiratory activity of activated sludge at the presence of 1, 5, 10 and $20 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni})\text{L}^{-1}$, reported an approximate reduction by 22.6%, 44.6%, 57.3% and 62.7%, respectively.

It is thus obvious that a number or published reports have identified nickel as an activated sludge stimulator (at relatively small concentrations), while a significant fraction of reports have solely identified nickel as activated sludge intoxicator. However, the last may be due to a failure to check the effects of even smaller doses of nickel to the examined activated sludge systems. The effects of nickel to activated sludge systems, as they have been reported by the above works, are summarized in Table 3.

Heavy metals have also been found to affect the growth of protozoan communities in activated sludge [116-118]. Nitrifying [119,120] and denitrifying [121] microorganisms are also particularly sensitive to the presence of heavy metals. Sujarittanonta and Sherrard [34] have reported that the nitrification processes is significantly more sensitive to the presence of nickel, compared to the biochemical oxidation of carbonaceous substrate (see above in this section). Ammonia nitrification takes place in two stages: ammonia oxidation to nitrite, followed by nitrite oxidation to nitrate. The first of the above processes is generally more sensitive to the presence of nickel [122,123]. 1 mM (=58.7 mg L⁻¹) of nickel applied on a mixed nitrifying culture caused 30% reduction in ammonia oxidation, with no significant inhibition to nitrite oxidation; however, the strength of inhibition has been found to be influenced by nickel speciation [122]. Exposure time to nickel also affects nitrificatition: nitrification inhibition increased from approximately 35% to 60-65% with the increase of exposure time to nickel from 1 to 8-25 h [124]. Growth mode has also been found to affect the first stage of nitrification (ammonia oxidation), thus 0.2 mM Ni(II) $(=11.7 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1})$ caused 30% inhibition on ammonia oxidation when a mixed nitrifying microbial culture was growing in a batch system, while inhibition over 95% was occurred when the same culture was growing in a continuous system [123]. Adaptation of nitrifying microorganisms to nickel has also been reported, thus the EC₅₀ value of nitrifying microorganisms has been doubled when previously exposed microbial populations were exposed to the same concentrations of nickel, compared with unexposed microorganisms [125]. Finally, denitrifying microorganisms have been found to be affected more severely compared to nitrifyiers. Lawrence et al. have reported that 0.5 mg(Ni(II)) L⁻¹ inhibited nitrification by a mixed microbial population, with no apparent effects on the nitrification process [50].

2.2. Effects of Ni(II) on particular aerobic microorganisms

A number of reports are dealing with the estimation of the minimum inhibition concentration (MIC) (MIC is defined as the lowest concentration of metal at which no colony forming units (CFU) are observed), of Ni(II) on various microorganisms, utilizing a range of assays. However, the effects of Ni(II) concentration on microbial growth (and consequently, the reported MIC values) are often apparently affected by the type of the assay used. Codina et al. [45] investigated the effects of Ni(II) to *P. fluorescens* growing either in a buffer solution or in raw sewage, using both a spectrophtometric test and the commercial toxicity test Microtox[®] (based on microbial bioluminescence). They reported the EC₅₀ values for the spectrophotometric assay as 763 and 1301.2 mg(Ni(II))L⁻¹, in buffer solution and in wastewater, respectively. For the Microtox[®]

Table 3
Effects of nickel to various activated sludge systems

Reference	Type of growth	Effects of nickel to activated sludge
Arican and Yetis [111]	Continuous	Addition of 5 mg(Ni(II)) L ⁻¹ results to increase in COD removal rate, MLSS concentration and observed biomass yield
Cokgol et al. [48]	Batch	Growth inhibition, EC ₅₀ value depends on type of substrate: 33 mg(Ni(II)) L ⁻¹ for growth on peptone-meat extract, 180 mg(Ni(II)) L ⁻¹ for growth on glucose, 145 mg(Ni(II)) L ⁻¹ for growth on starch-acetic acid
Gikas [12]	Batch, continuously aerated	Growth stimulation up to 27 mg(Ni(II)) L ⁻¹ (maximum stimulation at approximately 10 mg L ⁻¹), no growth at concentrations above 160 mg(Ni(II)) L ⁻¹ , progressive increase of lag time above 40 mg(Ni(II)) L ⁻¹
Gikas and Romanos [110]	Batch, continuously aerated	Growth stimulation up to $40 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$, vestigial growth was observed even at $320 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$
Guclu et al. [115]	Batch	Growth inhibition with EC_{50} : 33 mg (Ni(II)) L^{-1}
Heukelekian and Gellman [114]	Batch	Raw sewage: no growth above 25 (Ni(II)) mg L ⁻¹ , raw sewage plus activated sludge: remarkable growth even at 100 (Ni(II)) mg L ⁻¹
McDermontt et al. [112]	Continuous	Wastewater treatment plant performance: not affected with the addition of 1 mg(Ni(II)) L ⁻¹ , severely affected with the addition of 2.5–10 mg(Ni(II)) L ⁻¹
Mowat [37]	Batch	$1-20 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$ resulted to reduction in respiration rate by 22.6–62.7%, respectively
Ong et al. [108]	Continuous	Progressive reduction of the SOUR with the addition of Ni(II) (up to 55% reduction at the presence of 90–150 mg(Ni(II)) L ⁻¹ .
Sujarittanonta and Sherrard [34]	Continuous	1–5 mg(Ni(II))L ⁻¹ improved the maximum biomass yield and the maintenance coefficient. No significant effect to COD removal efficiency
Wong et al. [113]	Batch	51.92% reduction of the respiration rate with the addition of 23 mg L $^{-1}$
Yetis and Gokcay [107]	Continuous	Duplication of μ_{max} with the addition of $5 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1} \mu_{max}$ was not affected with the addition of $10 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$, unstable growth with the addition of $25 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$

assay, they reported 55.2 and 170.8 mg(Ni(II)) L^{-1} , in buffer solution and in wastewater, respectively. It is thus obvious, that in the above case the measured nickel toxicity is a strong function of the type of the assay.

The minimum inhibition concentration for Escherichia coli has been reported as 1 mM (=58.7 mgL⁻¹) [79], and by other researchers as 0.2 mM (=11.74 mg L⁻¹) [126]. Experimental results reported by Babich et al. [127] on the same microorganism (E. *coli*), indicate unobstructed growth at $5 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$, significant growth reduction at $10-20 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II}))L^{-1}$ and no growth at $40 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$. Studies on the effects of several heavy metals on Bacillus sp. growing on toluene [128], indicated 55-62% growth rate reduction for Ni(II) concentrations between 0.4 and 0.8 mM $(=23.5-47 \text{ mg L}^{-1})$, while no growth was observed for Ni(II) concentrations over 1 mM (=58.7 mgL⁻¹). Experiments carried out on batch cultures of Klebsiella pneumoniae [41], indicated that increase of the Ni(II) concentration results, both, to prolonged lag times, and to reduced MLSS concentrations (MLSS dropped from 41.2 to 15.9 mg L^{-1} when the Ni(II) concentration in the growth medium increased from 300 to 500 mg L^{-1}). The same researchers [41], also reported 50% reduction in microorganism survival, by the use of viability counts on agar plates (at $6.65 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$). The above work is particularly interesting as it demonstrates the effect of the type of the growth media to nickel-induced toxicity. According to Visca et al. [129], small concentrations of nickel stimulate the growth of Pseudomonas aeruginosa (10 µM(Ni(II)) $(\cong 0.6 \text{ mgNi}(\text{II}) \text{ L}^{-1})$ reduced the generation time of the microorganism by 12%). Babich and Stotzky [54], who investigated the effects of Ni(II) concentration towards the growth of heterotrophic microorganisms, reported that statistically significant inhibition was occurred above 5-10 mg(Ni)L⁻¹ for Bacillus subtilis, Nocardia corallina and Candida krusei, above 10–25 mg(Ni) L⁻¹ for Aspergillus flavipes and above $25-50 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}) \text{L}^{-1}$ for Enterobacter aerogenes, however, all the examined microorganisms were able to grow, at reduced rates, at significantly higher Ni(II) concentrations. The same researchers [130] have measured the nickel concentrations for incipient growth and for complete growth containment for a number of filamentous fungus, eubacteria, actinomycetes and yeasts. The growth of the fungus Monoascus ruber was reduced by 50% with the addition of $10 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$, while no growth was observed at approximately 50 mg(Ni(II)) L⁻¹ [131]. Cobet et al. [132] reported that 0.1 mM of NiCl₂ (=5.9 mg(Ni(II))L⁻¹), slightly affected the growth of the marine bacterium Arthrobacter marinus, some growth inhibition was occurred at 0.4 mM (=23.5 mg(Ni(II))L⁻¹), while no growth was observed at 0.5 mM (=29.3 mg(Ni(II))L⁻¹). They [132] also reported increase of the lag phase with the rise of Ni(II) concentration (from 3 to over 70 h, at 0.4 mM(Ni(II))), and transfiguration of the cells into megalomorphic type (the cell size increased up to 250 times the normal size, after 10 h of incubation at the presence of 0.4 mM(Ni(II) (=23.5 mg(Ni(II))L⁻¹)).

Nickel has been identified as a stimulant to the growth of a number of cyanobacteria and blue-green algae. Growth stimulation has been observed for the alga Scenedesmus abliquus and for the diatom Nitzschia perminuta at concentrations up to 1 and $2 \operatorname{mg}(\operatorname{Ni}(\operatorname{II})) L^{-1}$, respectively [133]; however, the growth was inhibited with further increase of Ni(II) concentration [133]. Angadi and Mathad [134] reported that $0.1 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II}))L^{-1}$ stimulated, the growth (OD), percentage survival (viability), chlorophyll-a and -b production, and DNA, RNA and protein content of the green algae Scenedesmus quadricauda, while 0.2 and $0.4 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$ were also stimulated the growth and percentage survival (but not other parameters) of the above microorganism; however, all the measured parameters were inhibited at higher nickel concentrations. Rai and Raizada [135] reported that the growth, nitrogenase activity, and the CO₂ uptake rate of the cyanobacteria Nostoc muscorum were stimulated at the presence of 0.01, 0.025 and $0.05 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$ (maximum growth stimulation (43%) occurred at $0.0105 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$; however, growth inhibition was occurred at higher nickel concentrations [136].

On the other hand, some experimental works report just algal growth inhibition by the addition of even small amounts of nickel. Thus, the growth of the green algae *Chlorella pyrenoidosa* 251, was not affected by the addition of 0.5 mg(Ni(II)) L⁻¹, while nickel concentrations above $1 \text{ mg(Ni(II))} L^{-1}$ resulted to growth reduction [137]. Asthana et al. [138] found that the increase of the nickel concentration from 0 to 5 and 10 μ M (=0.3 and 0.6 mg L⁻¹), resulted to a small, but progressive, reduction of the growth of the cyanobacterium *N. muscorum* ISU, while the growth was severely affected by 15 μ M(Ni(II)) (=0.9 mg(Ni(II)) L⁻¹).

2.3. Ni(II) tolerant microorganisms

Nickel tolerant microorganisms have been isolated from nickel polluted sites, or from natural sites lying close to nickel mineral deposits. Alternatively, nickel-tolerant strains have been "created" by the transfer of nickel tolerant genes encountered in plasmoidal DNA. According to Duxbury [139], a bacterial strain may be characterized as nickel tolerant, if it is able to grow at Ni(II) concentrations higher than 1.70 mM (\cong 100 mg L⁻¹).

Wastewater treatment plants, treating industrial effluents from the metal processing industry, are places where nickel tolerant species may be encountered. Schmidt and Schlegel [140] have isolated a bacterial strain from such a plant, capable of growing at NiCl₂ concentrations up to 20 mM ($1174 = mg(Ni(II))L^{-1}$). They [140] also applied the same isolation protocol to ordinary soil, however, no bacterial strains were able to grow in media containing more than 1 mM Ni(II) (=58.71 mg(Ni(II))L⁻¹). Genetically engineered strains of Alcaligenes eutrophus have been reported to grow at the presence of 1 mM Ni(II) (=58.71 mg(Ni(II)) L^{-1}) [141]. Otth et al. [142] have experimentally estimated the minimal inhibition concentration of Ni(II) on 49 strains of Arcobacter butzleri to lie just below 4 mM (=236 mgL⁻¹), while for one strain it was found to be just below 8 mM (=472 mg L^{-1}). The MIC of heterotrophically grown A. eutrophus CH34 has been experimentally estimated to be 2.5 mM (=147 mgL⁻¹) [143]. The wild strains of the fungus Aspergillus niger can tolerate nickel at concentrations up to 0.2-1.6 mM (=11.7-93.9 mgL⁻¹); however, an isolate from metal contaminated soil was able to grow at 6.5 mM Ni(II) (=381.5 mg L^{-1}) [144]. A nickel-tolerant strain of E. coli (strain V48) has been isolated from the municipal wastewater treatment plan of Vilnius [145]. The MIC for the above strain was measured as 5 mM Ni(II) $(=293.5 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II}))\text{L}^{-1})$, which, according to the authors, is 50 times greater than the MIC of the nickel-non-tolerant strain of E. coli JM101. Kaur et al. [146] have isolated, from an anaerobic digester, the aerobic microorganism Alcaligenes denitrificans strain (4a-2), which is able to grow heterotrophically at Ni(II) concentrations up to 20 mM (=1174 mg L⁻¹).

Natural ecosystems rich in nickel, like serpentine soils, are often home to exceptionally nickel tolerant microorganisms, as these microorganisms have been acclimatized to grow at high nickel concentrations for centuries or more. Pal et al. [147] have isolated from nickel-rich serpentine soil. from the Andaman islands. Pseudomonas sp. with MIC greater than $400 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$. Pseudomonas sp., from serpentine soils of central Italy, able to grow at 10 mM(Ni(II)) (=587 mg(Ni(II))L⁻¹) have also been isolated [148]. Nickel-tolerant strains, isolated from the vicinity of the roots of nickel-accumulating plants, in serpentine soils from New Caledonia, are able to grow at the presence of 20 mM(Ni(II)) $(=1174 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II}))\text{L}^{-1})$ [149]. Research by Hashem and Bahkali [150] indicated that a strain of the fungus Fusarium solani (isolated from Saudi Arabian soil), was able to grow at the presence of up to 300 mg(Ni(II))L⁻¹. Schmidt et al. [151], and Stoppel and Schlegel [152] reported that the bacterial strains Alcaligenes xylosoxydans 31A and A. eutrophus KT02, which were isolated from ecosystems heavily polluted with heavy metals, are able to grow at Ni(II) concentrations up to 50 mM (=2935 mg L⁻¹). Finally, Congeevaram et al. [153] have reported an approximately linear reduction of biomass concentration for Aspergillus and Micrococcus species with the increase of Ni(II) concentration; while both species were able to grow even at the presence of $500 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$.

The phenomenon of adaptation to nickel has been studied by Thomas et al. [154] who exposed *P. aeruginosa* and *Pseudomonas putida* to various concentrations of Ni(II). They found that, both, lag time and cell doubling time were decreased with the adaptation of *P. aeruginosa*, while no difference was observed for *P. putida*, which is obviously more tolerant to nickel (see Table 4).

Genetic manipulation has also been practiced to "create" nickel tolerant species. Thus, *E. coli* has been genetically transformed to grow at 100 times higher Ni(II) concentration, compared to the wild strain [155].

2.4. Effects of Ni(II) on the chemolithotrophic growth of microorganisms

Nickel has been identified as a trace element in the chemolithotrophic growth of microorganisms, which is reported in the present manuscript separately, as it is a distinct case of aerobic growth. More specifically, nickel catalyzes the synthesis of hydrogenase [156], while in some autotrophic bacteria it has been identified as a constituent of the hydrogenase in both the cytoplasmic NAD-reducing and in the membrane-bound forms [157,158].

Two *Hydrogenomonas* strains (H1 and H16) have been found to depend on nickel for chemolithotrophic growth (estimated optimum nickel concentration is 3×10^{-7} M (= 18×10^{-6} mg L⁻¹) [104] Similarly, *A. eutrophus* [105], *Xantobacter autotrophicus* and *P. flava* [87] are also unable to grow chemolithotrophicaly at the absence of nickel. Moreover, it was found that the growth of *A. eutrophus* was increased eight times by the addition of 7.5×10^{-7} M(Ni(II)) (= 44×10^{-6} mg(Ni(II))L⁻¹) [159]. However, growth inhibition was occurred above 1×10^{-6} M (= 58.7×10^{-6} mgL⁻¹) [159].

A number of works have been published on genetically manipulated chemolithotrophic microbial species, to enhance nickel tolerance, particularly on *A. eutrophus* ([82,160]).

2.5. Combined effects of Ni(II) with other environmental factors on aerobic microorganisms

The pH of the growth media affects the speciation of nickel, as Ni^{2+} forms complexes with OH⁻, according to the sequence:

$$Ni^{2+} \xrightarrow{OH^{-}} NiOH^{+} \xrightarrow{OH^{-}} Ni(OH)_{2} \xrightarrow{OH^{-}} Ni(OH)_{3} \xrightarrow{OH^{-}} Ni(OH)_{4}^{2-}$$

However, the hydroxylated species of nickel are formed in appreciable amounts only at pH above 9.5 [74]. Consequently, the decrease of nickel toxicity with the increase in pH cannot attributed to the formation of those species. It is possible that this behavior can be attributed to a more efficient competition between Ni²⁺ and H⁺ for binding sites of nitrogenous organics in the growth media, thus, at relatively higher pH (lower H⁺ concentration) nickel complexes with soluble nitrogenous organics to form less toxic compounds compared to free Ni²⁺ [161].

Babich and Stotzky [130] who quantified the toxicity of nickel to a number of microorganisms found that, for all the examined microbial strains, nickel toxicity was potentiated with the reduction of pH. The same researchers have reported reduction of nickel toxicity at increased pH values for the microorganisms *Penicillium vermiculatum*, *Rizopus stolonifer*, *Trichoderma viride* and *Gliocladium* sp. [162]. The growth of the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* B11842, is also significantly reduced at pH lower than 5, if nickel is present [163]. Finally, in situ reduction of pH (from 6.8 to 5.3) to the water of a lake has been found to increase the toxicity of 75 mg(Ni(II)) L⁻¹ to the aquatic microorganisms *Seratia marcescens* and *Nocardia rhodochrous* [164].

The opposite behavior has been reported by Gimmler et al. [165] who found that the growth of the acidotolerant filamentous fungus *Bispora* sp. was inhibited by 50% at the presence of 2×10^{-5} M(Ni(II)) (=1.17 mg(Ni(II)L⁻¹), at neutral pH (=7.0), while this fungus was growing with no signs of inhibition at Ni(II) concentrations higher than 3×10^{-3} M (=176.1 mgL⁻¹), at pH 1. The growth of the metal resistant bacterium *Burkholderia cepacia* has been found to decrease with pH at the presence of nickel [166,167]. On the other hand, the same research team [167] has reported that pH changes did not affect the growth of the metal tolerant species *Ralstonia metallidu*-

I S	0	0	1	
Type of adaptation (metal concentration: $5 \text{ mmol } L^{-1}$)	Pseudomonas aerug	tinosa	Pseudomonas putida	
	Lag time (h)	Doubling time (h)	Lag time (h)	Doubling time (h)
Cells non-adapted to Ni(II)	40	31	6	6
Cells adapted to Ni(II)	20	16	6	6
Cells non-adapted to Co(II)	47	55	75	10
Cells adapted to Co(II)	22	47	20	24

The effect of adaptation to either nickel or cobalt to lag and to doubling time for Pseudomonas arruginosa and for Pseudomonas nutida

The above data indicate that the behavior of the system depends, both, on the type of the heavy metal and on the type of microorganisms (from Thomas et al. [154]).

rans, at the presence of Ni(II), which implies that induced changes in nickel toxicity by pH alterations is a microorganism-dependant property.

Table 4

Synthetic chelators, such as ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) and nitrilotriacetic acid (NTA), and natural chelators, such as citrate, aspartate and 2,6-pyridinedicarboxylic acid (PDA) bind with free nickel, thus reducing or eliminating the toxicity of nickel to microorganisms [41,49,50,161,168]. Lee and Lustigman [49] investigated the combined effects of nickel and EDTA on the cyanobacteria Anacystis nidulans; $10 mg(Ni(II))L^{-1}$ severely inhibited the growth of the above microorganism, while the toxic effects of nickel were almost lifted by the addition of 0.1% (w/v) EDTA, due to the binding of free Ni(II) with EDTA. However, the toxic effects of $25 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$ could not be reversed by EDTA addition. Similarly, Rai and Raizada [168] concluded that the toxic effects of nickel to the cyanobacterium N. muscorum reduced by the addition of either EDTA or calcium, with respect to survival (viable counts), growth and carbon fixation. They also reported that nickel concentrations up to 2.1 μ M (=0.12 mg L⁻¹) stimulated both carbon fixation and nitrogenase production. Ainsworth et al. [41] found that addition of either, EDTA, aspartate or citrate ameliorated the toxic effects of nickel to the growth and viability of K. pneumoniae, while a similar effect to N. rhodochrous by the addition of either EDTA, PDA or NTA has been reported by Babich and Stotzky [161].

The hydrostatic pressure has been found to increase the nickel toxicity to marine microorganisms [169]. However, other reports have indicated a neutral effect [170].

Simultaneous interactions between more than one heavy metals with the microorganisms may have either synergic, antagonistic or additive effects (see Section 1.1). The mechanism of such interactions may be particularly complex, and unique, depending on the combinations of heavy metals and microbial strains. Babich and Stotzky [54] reported synergic effect among nickel and copper to the growth of a number of heterotrophic microorganisms. On the other hand, Mg(II) or Fe(III) have been found to act antagonistically with Ni(II) to the growth of the fungus A. niger [171]. Synergism between nickel and either copper or hexa-valent chromium, with respect to growth and chlorophyll-*a* synthesis by the algae C. pyrenoidosa 251, has been reported by Wong and Chang [136]. Zinc, lead and cadmium have been found to antagonize nickel with respect to the toxic effects to Saccharomycopsis lipolytica [172], Saprolegnia sp. [173], Achyla sp. [173], and Ankistrodesmus falcatus [56]. Finally, synergism between the antibiotic erythromycin and nickel on the growth of a number Gram-negative and Gram-positive microorganisms has been reported by Sultana et al. [174].

3. Effects of Co(II)

The effects of cobalt on microbial growth have been studied to a less extent, compared with relative studies on the effects of nickel. Even less work has been contacted on the effects of cobalt on activated sludge systems, possibly because the industrial applications of cobalt are not as wide as those of nickel.

3.1. Effects of Co(II) on activated sludge

The theoretically optimum cobalt concentration for unrestricted performance of activated sludge systems has been estimated to lie between 20×10^{-3} and $50 \times 10^{-3} \text{ mg L}^{-1}$ [6]. Maeda and Azumi [106] reported that cobalt concentration in an activated sludge treatment plant varied between the detection limit and 0.14 mg(Co) g⁻¹ (MLSS) (mixed liquid suspended solids), with average value and standard deviation of 0.03 and $0.05 \text{ mg}(\text{Co})\text{g}^{-1}$ (MLSS), respectively. The cobalt concentration values reported by Wood and Tchobanoglous [6] and Maeda and Azumi [106] are in good agreement (based on the MLSS values reported by Maeda and Azumi [106], the average per volume cobalt concentration is calculated as 34×10^{-3} mg L⁻¹). The concentration of cobalt at the raw wastewater and at the overflow of the primary clarifier were measured, in grab samples, by Gikas [12] as 11×10^{-3} and 9×10^{-3} mg L⁻¹, respectively; which indicates that only a small fraction of cobalt is removed by primary clarification.

Gravwater often lacks nutrients, thus addition of trace elements may be needed for the removal of the organic carbon with biological means. COD removal rate in graywater has been enhanced by 30% with the addition of $5 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$ [8].

Trace amounts of cobalt have been reported to stimulate the biodegradation process of municipal wastewater. The synthesis of vitamin B12 has been found to increase by 50% with the addition of $1 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$ in activated sludge systems [102]; however, the observed increase in vitamin B12 production was not accompanied by increase in the COD or BOD removal rates. Co(II) concentrations higher than 3 mg L⁻¹ resulted to reduced microbial activity, however, growth was sustained even at the presence of $50 \text{ mg}(\text{Co(II)}) L^{-1}$ [102].

The respiration rate of activated sludge has been found to increase with the addition of $1 mg(Co(II))L^{-1}$, accompanied by a slight reduction of the COD removal rate [7]. Moreover, addition of 5 mg(Co(II))L⁻¹ in a batch activated sludge system has been found to increase the COD removal rate by 30% [175].

Gikas [12] who studied the effects of a range of cobalt concentrations on activated sludge growing in a batch system, reported increase of the maximum specific growth rate (μ_{max}) for Co(II) concentrations up to approximately 19 mg L⁻¹, with maximum stimulation at 5 mg L⁻¹. However, further increase in Co(II) concentration resulted to gradual decrease in growth rate, while complete elimination of the growth was occurred at cobalt concentrations over 160 mg L⁻¹ (Fig. 3a and b). According to Gikas [12], μ_{max} was measured 11.3% above the baseline, at the maximum growth stimulation induced by Co(II). The same researcher has also reported a significant increase in lag times for growth at Co(II) concentrations over 40 mg L^{-1} [12].

Some studies have reported only inhibition to the growth of activated sludge at the presence of cobalt. Mowat [37] reported reduction of the respiratory activity of activated sludge by approximately 16.2%, 50.2%, 54.7% and 58.2% with the addition of Co(II) at concentrations of 1, 5, 10 and 20 mg L⁻¹, respectively. Significant increase of the initial retardation time, during the biological oxi-

Table 5a

 $\label{eq:entropy} Effect of Co(II) \ concentration to the biochemical oxidation (expressed as percentage of control BOD_5) \ of municipal wastewater (from Heukelekian and Gellman [114])$

Time (days)	Cobalt concentration (mg L ⁻¹)						
	0	5	10	25	50		
0.75	48	18	8	4	5		
1	58	30	17	5	5		
2	80	56	47	8	5		
3	89	64	56	25	5		
4	95	70	60	42	5		
5	100	76	64	50	6		

Table 5b

Effect of Co(II) concentration to the biochemical oxidation (expressed as percentage of control 23 h-BOD) of municipal wastewater, inoculated with $2 \text{ mg}(\text{MLSS}) \text{ L}^{-1}$ of activated sludge (from Heukelekian and Gellman [114])

Time (h)	Cobalt concentration (mg L ⁻¹)						
	0	5	10	25	50	100	
1	12	11	11	10	9	7	
4	33	31	31	27	22	16	
6	46	43	42	36	29	24	
8	59	54	53	45	36	24	
12	73	68	67	60	50	34	
23	100	89	89	80	72	55	

dation of raw sewage at the presence of $5-25 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II}))\text{L}^{-1}$ has been reported by Heukelekian and Gellman [114], while growth was not sustained at 50 mg(Co(II)) L⁻¹ (Table 5a). Addition of activated sludge to the raw sewage resulted to a significant increase of the overall microbial activity, eliminating the intoxication effects due to the presence of cobalt (Table 5b).

Based on the majority of the references quoted above, cobalt is likely to act as activated sludge growth stimulant, at trace concentrations. Table 6 summarizes the effects of cobalt to the various activated sludge systems, reported above.

To the knowledge of the author, the effects of cobalt to the activated sludge nitrification and denitrification processes have not been widely assessed by the international literature.

3.2. Effects of Co(II) on particular aerobic microorganisms

A number of reports indicate microbial growth stimulation with the addition of small amounts of cobalt, which is in agreement with the biological role of cobalt (see Section 1.4). 0.1 mg(CoCl₂) L^{-1} $(=0.062 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II}))\text{L}^{-1})$ stimulated the maximum specific growth rate (μ_{max}) and biomass yield coefficient (Y_{b}) of an aerobic bacterium isolated from activated sludge (strain CIP I-2052), by 78% and 200%, respectively [176], while growth was contained at 0.5 mg L^{-1} (=0.312 mg(Co(II))L⁻¹). The growth of Streptomyces coelicolor increased by approximately 50% with the addition of $300 \text{ mg}(\text{Co(II)})\text{L}^{-1}$, however, at this cobalt concentration the production of antibiotic (actinorhodin), by the fungi, was not sustained [177]. Falih [178], who studied the effects of cobalt to the growth of Phanerochaete chrysosporium, concluded that the growth (biomass production) of the above fungi was significantly stimulated by the presence of 100 mg(Co(II)) L⁻¹, while addition of 200 mg(Co(II)) L⁻¹ resulted to growth inhibition. Research carried out by Visca et al. [129], indicated that $0.01 \text{ mM}(\text{Co(II}) (=0.59 \text{ mg}(\text{Co(II}))\text{L}^{-1}))$ increased the growth of *P. aeruginosa* by 21%. Finally, Saved et al. [179] reported stimulation to the growth of an actinobacteria species (Frankia sp.), by selected concentrations of cobalt.

The stimulant effects of cobalt in a batch system may not be obvious right after inoculation. Thus, for some time after inoculation the blank may exhibit higher growth rates, while later on, the cobalt supplemented culture may take over. This has been demonstrated by Barabasz et al. [180] who reported growth stimulation of *E. coli* with the addition of 5 or $25 \text{ mg}(\text{Co(II)})\text{L}^{-1}$ after 3–4 days of incubation.

Growth stimulation by cobalt has been also reported for algae and diatoms: Graneli and Risinger [181] found that cobalt is essential for the growth of the dinoflagelated algae Chrysochromulina polylepis, reporting that the final number of the cells, during batch cultivation, increased when cobalt was present at concentrations between 1 and 3 nM Co(II) $(=58.9 \times 10^{-6} - 76.7 \times 10^{-6} \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II})\text{L}^{-1}))$. Both, the growth of the green alga S. abliquus and of the diatom N. perminuta were stimulated by 1 and 1.5 mg(Co(II))L⁻¹, respectively [133], however, further increase of the Co(II) concentration resulted, in both cases, to growth inhibition. Poskuta [182], reported that 20 mM $(=1178 \text{ mg L}^{-1})$ of Co(II) stimulated, both, the respiration rate and the rate of photosynthesis of the green alga *C. pyrenoidosa*. Finally, El-Naggar et al. [183] found that $0.01 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II}))\text{L}^{-1}$ stimulated. by approximately 20%, the growth of the cyanobacterium N. mus*corum*, while $0.15 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II})) \text{L}^{-1}$ resulted to approximately 69% growth reduction.

On the other hand, Co(II) has been solely identified as growth inhibitor by many experimental studies. Increased lag time and deceased final MLSS concentration has been reported for K. pneumoniae, with the increase of Co(II) concentration in the growth medium [41]. $5 \text{ mg}(\text{Co(II)}) L^{-1}$ slightly affected the growth of Zoogloea ramigera, $10 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$ resulted to significant increase of lag time with parallel reduction of the MLSS concentration, while no growth was observed at $50 \text{ mg}(\text{Co(II)}) \text{L}^{-1}$ [184]. Chen et al. [185] have estimated the EC₀ (maximal "no-response" concentration), EC₂₀ and EC₅₀ values for *P. aeruginosa* growing in a batch system to be 1.15, 27.1 and $150 \text{ mg}(\text{Co(II)}) L^{-1}$, respectively. The growth of B. cepacia PR1₃₀₁, is inhibited by 68.7% and 80.5% at pH 5.0 and 6.0, respectively, at the presence of $4.25 \text{ mg}(\text{Co(II)}) L^{-1}$, while no growth is sustained at pH 7.0 [167]. The MIC for E. coli has been measured as 1 mM (=58.9 mg L⁻¹) [79]. Guha and Mookerjee [186] who experimented with the same microorganism, found that $300 \,\mu\text{M}(\text{Co(II)})$ (=17.7 mg(Co(II))L⁻¹) resulted to a 2.5 times fold slow down of the synthesis of both, messenger RNA and stable RNA, which implies that, both, the process of transcription and the process of translation are affected by the presence of cobalt. The growth of Thiobacillus ferooxidans is not affected by cobalt concentrations up to 0.1 M (= 5.9 mg L^{-1}), while it is slightly inhibited at $0.25 \text{ M}(\text{Co(II)})(=14.7 \text{ mg}(\text{Co(II)}) \text{ L}^{-1})$ [187]. The lag phase of *P. aerug*inosa, was doubled with the introduction of $20 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II})) \text{ L}^{-1}$, while no growth was observed over $80 \text{ mg}(\text{Co(II)}) \text{ L}^{-1}$ [188]. Thomas et al. [154] reported that prolonged exposure to cobalt resulted to the reduction of lag time for *P. aeruginosa* and for *P. putida* (see Table 4).

Lee et al. [189] measured the growth of the unicellular cyanobacterium *A. nidulans*, using both direct counts and a hemocytometer. They observed complete growth reduction above 30 mg(Co(II)) L⁻¹, while smaller concentrations resulted to a relatively prolonged lag phase, compared to the baseline. A remarkably good agreement between the two microbial growth measuring methods (direct counts and hemocytometry) was observed. 50% reduction on the growth rate of *S. quadricauda* at 4.49 mg(Co(II)) L⁻¹ has been reported [190]. 10 mg(Co(II)) L⁻¹ resulted to slight decrease of the growth of the green algae *Chlamidomonas reinhardtii*, while no growth occurred at 30 mg(Co(II)) L⁻¹ [191]. Kostiaev [192] based on measurements of the rate of photosynthesis, concluded that cells at the beginning of the exponential growth phase were more sensitive to cobalt, compared with cells towards the end of exponential growth phase.

Research carried out by Adiga et al. [171] indicated that approximately $110 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II}))\text{L}^{-1}$ reduced by 50% the growth and the glucose consumption of the fungi *A. niger*. Al-Sarrani [131], reported

Table 6	
---------	--

Effects of cobalt to various activated sludge systems

Reference	Type of growth	Effects of cobalt to activated sludge
Burgess et al. [7]	Batch	$1 \operatorname{mg}(\operatorname{Co}(II))L^{-1}$ increases of the respiration rate, with parallel slight decrease of the COD removal rate
rang et al. [175]	Datch	
Gikas [12]	Batch, continuously aerated	Growth stimulation up to 19 mg(Co(II)) L^{-1} (maximum stimulation at approximately 5 mg L^{-1}) No growth at concentrations above 160 mg(Co(II)) L^{-1} Progressive increase of lag time above 40 mg(Co(II)) L^{-1}
Heukelekian and Gellman [114]	Batch	Raw sewage: slight growth inhibition up to $25 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$, no growth above $50 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$ Raw sewage plus activated sludge: remarkable growth even at $100 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II})) L^{-1}$
Jefferson et al. [8]	Batch	Graywater: 30% increase in COD removal rate with the addition of $5mg(\mbox{Co(II)})\mbox{L}^{-1}$
Kelly et al. [44]	Batch	$EC_{50} = 100 mg(Co(II)) L^{-1}$ (based on bioluminescence measurements) $EC_{50} = 76 mg(Co(II)) L^{-1}$ (based on SOUR measurements)
Mowat [37]	Batch	$1-20 \text{ mg}(\text{Co(II)}) L^{-1}$ resulted to reduction in respiration rate by 16.2–58.2%, respectively
Sathyanarayana Rao and Srinath [102]	Batch	$1\ mg(Co(II))\ L^{-1}$ resulted to increase in vitamin B12 synthesis by approximately 50%, with no effect on the COD and BOD removal rates Higher cobalt concentrations stimulate the production of vitamin B12, but severely affect the microbial activity. Limited growth even at 50 mg(Co(II))\ L^{-1}
Wood and Tchobanoglous [6]	-	Theoretical calculation: 20×10^{-3} – 50×10^{-3} mg(Co(II)) L^{-1} are demanded for unrestricted growth

that the growth of the fungus *Monoascus rubber* was inhibited by approximately 40% at the presence of $10 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II})) \text{L}^{-1}$, while no growth was observed at $100-200 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II})) \text{L}^{-1}$. Finally, the growth of the soil bacterium *Rhizobium* GN1 reduced by 70% at $20 \mu \text{M}(\text{Co}(\text{II}))$ (=1.18 mg(Co(II)) L⁻¹) [193].

The MIC (minimum inhibition concentration) of cobalt for several strains of *Pseudomonas* sp. and *Proteus* sp. have been found to lie between 0.4 to 0.8 mM (=23.5–47 mg L⁻¹), while for *E. coli* it has been measured as 0.2 mM (=11.8 mg L⁻¹) [194]. The same research team [195] reported that the cell production rate of *P. aeruginosa* was marginally affected by the presence of cobalt at concentrations up to 1 mM (=5.9 mg L⁻¹); while just 0.1 mM (=0.6 mg L⁻¹) of cobalt reduced the synthesis of proteins by approximately 24%. Venkateswerlu and Stotzky [196] found that cobalt affected the cell wall composition of the fungus *Cunninghamella blakesleeana*, while the MIC for the above strain was measured as 3.5 mg(Co(II))L⁻¹.

3.3. Co tolerant microorganisms

Cobalt resistant microbial strains have been isolated from, both, naturally and anthropogenically cobalt contaminated sites. The bacterial strains A. xylosoxydans 31A and A. eutrophus KT02, isolated from metal contaminated sites, have been found to grow at the presence of up to 20 mM Co(II) $(=1178 \text{ mg}(\text{Co(II}))\text{ L}^{-1})$ [151,152]. Similarly, Sajani and Maruthi Mohan [197] obtained a cobalt-tolerant strain of the fungus Neurospora crassa, by repeated sub-cultivations of the wild type on cobalt-containing agar medium. The MIC of the mutant was measured as 8 mM $(=471.2 \text{ mg L}^{-1})$, 20 times higher that the one of the wild strain. 80% of the cobalt in the culture containing the mutant cells was bound on proteins, while this fraction in the wild strain culture was approximately 25% [198]; indicating that cobalt is part of the proteinic structure of the cobalt tolerant cells. Hashem and Bahkali [150] reported that the fungus F. solani, which was isolated from soil in the Arabian peninsula, was capable to grow at Co(II) concentrations above 300 mg L^{-1} .

Mergeay et al. [199], isolated from a zinc processing factory a bacterial strain of *Pseudomonas palleroni*, able to grow at the presence of 5 mM(Co(II)) (294.5 mg(Co(II)) L⁻¹) (the same strain was also resistant to zinc, cadmium, copper and mercury, up to 20, 6, 5 and 5 mM, respectively). Genetically engineered strains of *P. palleroni*, sensitive to the above metals, were able to grow at high metal concentrations, after successful transfer of the extrachromosomal DNA from the metal resistant strain [199]. Similarly genetically engineered *E. coli*, was able to grow in environments with 100 times higher Co(II) concentration, compared to the wild stain [155].

3.4. Effects of Co(II) on the chemolithotrophic growth of microorganisms

Cobalt has been identified as a trace element for the chemolithotrophic growth of microorganisms, as it is a component of indispensable enzymes [90]. Repaske and Mayer [159], have identified cobalt as an essential nutrient for the chemolithotrophic growth of *A. eutrophus*, the growth of which was stimulated significantly by the addition of 2×10^{-7} M(Co(II)) (=11.8 × 10⁻⁶ mg(Co(II))L⁻¹), however, further increase of the Co(II) concentration resulted to growth inhibition [159]. Mergeay et al. [143], have calculated the MIC for the chemolithotrophic growth of *A. eutrophus* as 20 mM (=1178 mgL⁻¹). Finally, the MIC of genetically manipulated *A. eutrophus* CH34 has been reported to increase from 0.1 mM(Co(II)) (=5.9 mg(Co(II)L⁻¹) for the wild strain to 9 mM(Co(II)) (=530.1 mg(Co(II)L⁻¹) for the mutant [82].

3.5. Combined effects of Co(II) with other environmental factors on aerobic microorganisms

Cobalt (II) speciation [74]:

$$\text{Co}^{2+} \xrightarrow{\text{OH}^{-}} \text{CoOH}^{+} \xrightarrow{\text{OH}^{-}} \text{Co(OH)}_{2} \xrightarrow{\text{OH}^{-}} \text{Co(OH)}_{3} \xrightarrow{\text{OH}^{-}} \text{Co(OH)}_{4}^{2-}$$

is quite similar to that of nickel (see paragraph 2.5), thus based on the proximity of the ionic structure of Co^{2+} and Ni^{2+} , it is likely that Co^{2+} also competes with H⁺ for binding sites with nitrogenous organics in the growth media. However, the limited experimental data, that exist, suggest a more complex relation between cobalt toxicity and pH.

pH increase from 1 to 7 resulted to the decrease of the D_{50} value of *Bispora* sp. (an extreme acidotolerant filamentous fungus) from 3×10^{-3} M (=0.18 mg L⁻¹) to 5×10^{-5} M Co(II) (=2.9 × 10^{-3} mg L⁻¹) [165]. The growth of the yeast *S. cerevisiae* B11842 is highly sensitive to pH changes, as it fails to grow at the presence of 1.2 mM (Co(II)) (=70.9 mg(Co(II)) L⁻¹) at pH below 5.0, or above 6.5 [163]. Schmitt et al. [200], who worked with a wild strain of *S. cerevisiae*, reported increase of the MIC from 14.3 to 19.8 mg(Co(II)) L⁻¹ when the pH was reduced from 6.4 to 4.75.

Cobalt toxicity in marine microorganisms has been found to increase with hydrostatic pressure [169], or to be independent of it [170].

The effects of cobalt to particular microbial species can be significantly altered by the presence of other metallic species (see paragraph 1.2). Sajani and Maruthi Mohan [197] reported reversion of the intoxication by cobalt, in a wild and in a cobalt-tolerant strain of the fungus *N. crassa*, by the addition of either Mg(II) or Fe(III). The Co(II):Mg(II) ratio and the Co(II):Fe(III) ratio for complete reversion of the Co(II) toxic effects was 10:1, for the wild strain, while the cobalt-tolerant strain required a ratio of 1:1. The antagonism between Co(II) and either Mg(II) or Fe(III) has been primarily attributed to the reduced cobalt binding to mycelia and to cell walls, due to the competition by manganese or iron ions. Essential metal substitution (particularly zinc) by cobalt has also been reported: Price and Morel [201] have proved experimentally that cobalt can promote the growth of zinc limited phytoplankton, by substituting zinc in some metallo-enzymes. More specifically, the cyanobacterium Thalassiosira weissflogii was practically unable to grow at the absence of zinc, while addition of cobalt (in zinc free media) resulted in growth at 60% level, compared to the zinc rich media. Similarly, Sunda and Huntsman [202] reported that zinc is an essential nutrient for the growth of the diatoms Thalassiosira pseudonana and Thalassiosira oceanica, however, they found that the need for zinc can largely be met by cobalt. Finally, Sultana et al. [174] reported that cobalt has a synergic effect with the antibiotic erythromycin, on the growth inhibition, in a number Gram-negative and Gram-positive microorganisms.

4. Comparative effects of individual Ni(II) and Co(II) on the same microbial systems

Nickel and cobalt have similar chemical and physicochemical properties, since they appear side by side at the 8th column of the periodic table of the elements, and their electronic structure differs by one electrode in the inner electronic shell ([Ar]3d⁸4s² for Ni, $[Ar]3d^74s^2$ for Co). They have similar electronegativities (1.9 for both species at the scale of Pauling, 1.75 for Ni and 1.70 for Co, at the scale of Allred and Rochow), while the effective radii of the hydrated ions at 30 °C have been calculated (no direct data exist) as 4.21 and 3.80 Å for Ni(II) and Co(II), respectively. The cells are also utilizing almost identical biochemical mechanisms for dealing with those elements [79], while the same genes, or genes on the same plasmid are often encoding the biochemical behaviour of the cells at the presence of nickel and cobalt [27]. However, despite the above-mentioned physicochemical and biological interaction similarities, it has been found that the above heavy metals usually have different effects on similar biological systems. The comparative biological activity of nickel and cobalt has been assessed by a number of experimental works; however, the results are often controversial, as a clear conclusion about the comparative stimulation/toxicity of nickel and cobalt cannot be reached. It is wise to underline that the biological activities of particular heavy metals can be compared only between identical biological systems; otherwise, false conclusions may be derived.

4.1. Comparative effects of Ni(II) and Co(II) on activated sludge

No clear conclusions can be derived for the comparative effects of Ni(II) and Co(II) on activated sludge systems.

Heukelekian and Gellman [114] who measured the biological activities of both nickel and cobalt on activated sludge have reported that nickel is more toxic than cobalt (see Tables 2a, 2b, 5a and 5b). On the contrary, Gikas [12] reported that cobalt is more potent intoxicator than nickel, to activated sludge, at concentrations higher than approximately 20 mg L^{-1} . However, at smaller concentrations nickel stimulates microbial growth to a greater extent than cobalt. More specifically, Gikas [12] has reported that 50% growth inhibition occurs at approximately 75 mg(Ni(II) L⁻¹ or at 58 mg(Co(II)) L⁻¹ (see Fig. 3a and b). Finally, Mowat [37] suggested that both species have more or less similar effect on the respiratory activity of activated sludge.

4.2. Comparative effects of Ni(II) and Co(II) on particular aerobic microorganisms

A non-clear picture of the comparative effects of individual Ni(II) and Co(II) on particular aerobic microbial systems does exists, as for activated sludge systems.

Yang and Ehrlich [170] have reported that nickel stimulates more efficiently than cobalt the growth of a marine rod, at concentrations up to 5 mg L⁻¹, while at 10 mg L⁻¹ nickel appears more toxic than cobalt. This is in broad agreement with the study by Barabasz at al. [180], according to which, the growth of *E. coli* is stimulated by the presence of up to 25 mg(Co(II)) L⁻¹, while no significant effect was observed by the same amount of Ni(II). According to Falih [178], 100 mg(Co(II)) L⁻¹ were stimulatory to the growth of *P. chrysosporium*, while the same amount of Ni(II) acted as growth inhibitor.

Cobalt has been found to be more toxic than nickel to *Flavobac*terium sp. and *Pseudomonas* sp. [203], and to *S. cerevisiae* [163], On the other hand, Adiga et al. [171] have reported that nickel is more toxic than cobalt on the growth of *A. niger*, reporting 50% reduction to the growth of the above fungus at the presence of either $40 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II}))\text{ L}^{-1}$ or $110 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II}))\text{ L}^{-1}$.

F. solani can grow on either nickel or cobalt at concentrations up to 300 mg L^{-1} , however, the overall behaviour of the fungus indicates that nickel is more potent growth inhibitor than cobalt [150]. Similarly, Al-Sarrani [131] reported that the growth of the fungus *M. ruber* was inhibited to a significantly greater extent by nickel, compared with the inhibition occurred by cobalt.

Cobalt is more potent inhibitor than nickel to the growth of E. coli [204] and P. putida [205]. Schmidt and Schlegel [140] who studied the effects of Ni(II) and Co(II) on a number of bacteria isolated from metal contaminated soils, have also reported that bacterial resistance to Co(II) is somehow lower compared with the resistance to Ni(II). A. butzleri has been reported to be more sensitive to Ni(II) than to Co(II) [142]. Bhattacharya et al. [206], who tested a large number of Vibrio parahaemolyticus strains, reported that 75% of the strains were Ni(II) resistant, while only 37% were Co(II) resistant. On the other hand, Ainsworth et al. [41], who experimented with K. pneumoniae, found that Ni(II) is more toxic than Co(II), with respect to the duration of the lag times in batch cultures; however, they reported equivalent toxicity of both species with respect to viable counts on agar plates. Research carried out by Collard et al. [82], on a number of facultative autotrophic strains, did not indicated clearly which of the two metals is more toxic. Finally, Losi and

Table 7
Comparative toxicity of nickel and cobalt to various microbial strains and cultures

Nickel more toxic than cobalt		Cobalt more toxic than nickel	
Reference	Microorganism	Reference	Microorganism
Adiga et al. [171]	Aspergillus niger	Ivanov et al. [205],	Pseudomonas putida
Ainsworth et al. [41]	Klebsiella pneumoniae (lag time only)	Bhattacharya et al. [206]	Vibrio parahaemolyticus
Al-Sarrani [131]	Monoascus ruber	Chandy [203]	Flavobacterium sp., Pseudomonas sp.
Barabasz at al. [180]	Escherichia coli	Gikas [12]	Activated sludge
Falih [178]	Phanerochaete chrysosporium	Pearse and Sherman [163]	Saccharomyces cerevisiae
Hashem and Bahkali [150]	Fusarium solani	Schmidt and Schlegel [140]	Various bacteria isolated from metal contaminated sites
Heukelekian and Gellman [114]	Activated sludge	Wu et al. [204]	Escherichia coli
Otth et al. [142]	Arcobacter butzleri		
Yang and Ehrlich [170]	Gram-negative marine rod		

Frankenberger [207] who studied bacterial isolates from chromium Cr(VI) contaminated sites, reported that cells able to grow at Cr(VI) concentrations up to $500-1000 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$, were also able to tolerate equally single nickel or cobalt up to a concentration of approximately 50 mg L^{-1} .

The comparative toxicity of nickel and cobalt to various microbial strains and cultures are summarized in Table 7.

5. Effects of joint Ni(II) and Co(II)

A limited number of works has been carried out to investigate the joint effects of nickel and cobalt on microbial systems. Even less work has been performed on the combined effects of nickel and cobalt on activated sludge systems, despite the fact that these two metals are often encountered together in the aqueous environment.

5.1. Effects of joint Ni(II) and Co(II) on activated sludge

Gikas [12] has published an extensive study on the individual and joint effects of nickel and cobalt on activated sludge. The individual effects of the above metals have been discussed above (Sections 2.1 and 3.1). Gikas [12] investigated the effects of three quotas of Ni(II) and Co(II): 1:3, 1:1 and 3:1, Ni(II):Co(II) (w/w) for a range of concentrations, and reported that their growth patterns were similar to the growth patterns of either Ni(II) or Co(II) applied individually, with somehow more prolonged lag phases and with some alterations on the maximum growth rate (μ_{max}). A graphical illustration of the effects of joint Ni(II) and Co(II) to the growth rate of activated sludge is shown in Fig. 3a and b.

According to Gikas [12], for the quota 3:1, Ni:Co (w/w), $\mu_{\rm max}$ increases by approximately 31.3% compared to the $\mu_{\rm max0}$ $(=0.1057 h^{-1})$ (maximum growth rate of the blank) value, at a joint concentration of 20 mg L⁻¹, followed by a drastic decrease at joint concentrations higher than 30 mg L⁻¹, while no growth was observed (during the time of the experiments) at a joint concentration of 160 mg L⁻¹. For the quota 1:1 Ni:Co (w/w), μ_{max} increases by approximately 27.0% compared to the μ_{max0} value, at a joint concentration of 20 mg L^{-1} . Further increase of the joint concentration resulted to a decrease of the μ_{\max} , but at a reduced rate compared to the 3:1 Ni:Co mixture. Growth was also nil at a joint concentration of 160 mg L^{-1} . Finally, the quota 1:3 Ni:Co (w/w) increased the μ_{max} by approximately 20.5% in relation to the μ_{max0} value, when the joint concentration reached 10 mg L⁻¹, followed by gradual decrease for joint concentrations up to 30 mg L⁻¹, while it was further decreased at higher concentrations, and reached zero at a joint concentration of 320 mg L⁻¹ (see Fig. 3a and b).

Gikas [12] used the isobolographic method to characterize the interaction between nickel and cobalt on the growth rate of activated sludge. According to his report, nickel and cobalt acted synergistically both at the zone of increasing stimulation and at the zone of toxicity, while an antagonistic effect was observed at the zone of decreasing stimulation Fig. 5a–c. Thus, according to Gikas [12], the maximum growth stimulation, in activated sludge, occurred when a relatively small amount of Ni(II) (25% w/w) was replaced by the equivalent amount of Co(II). The same mixture was also the most toxic compared with all the other mixtures and with the individual species, at relatively higher concentrations (at the toxicity zone). The above observation suggests that relatively small amounts of Co(II) in a Ni(II) contaminated growth medium may alter the growth pattern of activated sludge more drastically than the opposite.

5.2. Effects of joint Ni(II) and Co(II) on particular aerobic microorganisms

Antagonism between nickel and cobalt on the toxic effects on the growth of a Gram-negative rod has been reported by Yang and Ehrlich [170] who measured that $10 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II})\text{L}^{-1})$ had no effect on the growth of the above microorganism, while $10 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II}))\text{L}^{-1}$ resulted in approximately 40% reduction of the growth rate. However, simultaneous presence of $10 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II})\text{L}^{-1})$ and $10 \text{ mg}(\text{Ni}(\text{II}))\text{L}^{-1}$, resulted to approximately just 15% reduction of the growth rate.

The effect of Ni(II) and Co(II) to the growth of *K. pneumoniae*, has been characterized as additive, based on viable counts on agar plates [41]. On the other hand, Cross et al. [208] who investigated the joint effect of Ni(II) and Co(II) to the growth of cultured epithelial cells, reported a strong synergy among the above species. More specifically, they measured the LD₅₀ concentration for Ni(II) and Co(II) as 5.7 mM (=334.6 mg L⁻¹) and 1.1 mM (=64.8 mg L⁻¹), respectively, while the effect of a mixture of 0.75 mM(Ni(II)) (=44.0 mg(Ni(II)) L⁻¹) and 0.75 mM(Co(II)) (=44.2 mg(Co(II)) L⁻¹), reduced the cell viability by more than three times the value predicted by the additive approach.

Barabasz et al. [180] who worked with *E. coli* reported growth stimulation by the addition of $5-25 \text{ mg}(\text{Co}(\text{II}))\text{ L}^{-1}$, while addition of similar amounts of nickel had no effect on the growth of *E. coli*. However, according to the above researchers [180], simultaneous addition of even small amounts of both nickel and cobalt was absolutely lethal to the growth of the above microorganism.

Finally, Repaske and Repaske [209] reported approximately 180% stimulation to the chemolithotrophic growth of *A. eutrophus* by the addition of trace amounts of nickel and cobalt, however, no significant growth stimulation was observed by the addition of sole nickel or cobalt. The above indicates strong synergy between nickel and cobalt.

The type of the effects of nickel and cobalt to various microbial strains and cultures are summarized in Table 8.



Fig. 5. Isobolograms depicting the equi-effective concentrations of mixtures of nickel and cobalt to the growth of activated sludge. (a) Zone of increasing stimulation, synergic effect, (b) zone of decreasing stimulation, antagonistic effect and (c) toxicity zone, synergic effect (adopted from Gikas [12]).

Table 8

Type of joint effects of nickel and cobalt to various microbial strains and cultures

Reference	Microorganism	Type of Joint Effects
Ainsworth et al. [41]	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Additivity
Barabasz et al. [180]	Escherichia coli	Synergism
Cross et al. [208]	Cultured epithelial cells	Synergism
Gikas [12]	Activated sludge	Synergism (increase stimulation and toxicity zones), antagonism (decreased stimulation zone)
Repaske and Repaske [209]	Alcaligenes eutrophus	Synergism
Yang and Ehrlich [170]	Gram-negative marine rod	Antagonism

6. Summary: literature evaluation

Nickel and cobalt have been found to inhibit the microbial growth at relatively high concentrations, by all the published works. However, a significant number of works has indicated that both metals stimulate microbial growth at trace concentrations, while some reports supported that some microorganisms failed to growth at the absence of the above metals. Some studies have failed to report microbial growth stimulation by either nickel or cobalt, at trace concentrations. This may be attributed either to the fact that the above metals were acted solely as growth inhibitors, or to the fact that the researchers did not test the behavior of the microbes at low enough metal concentrations. In a similar manner, the effects of nickel or cobalt to the growth of mixed microbial populations, such as activated sludge, can be attributed either to effects of the above metals to the "average" growth of the mixed cultures, or to shifts in the microbial populations.

The impacts of both, nickel and cobalt, to microbial growth have been found to be affected on a case per case basis, by a number of environmental parameters, such as: pH, biomedium composition, presence of other heavy metals or active substances, or even hydrostatic pressure.

A general rule on the relative nickel and cobalt toxicity cannot be derived from the published data, as they are often contradictive, even for similar type of microbial systems. It should emphasized that useful comparisons on the relative toxicities can only be done among almost identical microbial systems, since the sensitivity to external environmental factors may affect their behavior more dramatically than the metal concentrations itself. Similarly, a clear line on the joint effects of the above metallic species cannot be drawn, as all three possible interactions (synergy, additivity and antagonism) have been reported.

The importance of understanding multi-metal toxicity, in relation with the chemical background, in environmental applications is obvious, as the toxic effects to microorganisms usually do not follow the rule of additivity. As multi-metal toxicity has become an issue of investigation, particularly for setting the maximum allowable metal concentrations in the aquatic- and in the geoenvironment, more research has to be performed. It is important, however, to standardize the microbial systems used for such research purposes, as collection of more data from various systems and under various conditions is not expected to yield the desired information.

References

- M.R. Bruins, S. Kapil, F.W. Oehme, Microbial resistance to metals in the environment, Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 45 (2000) 198–207.
- [2] G. Ji, S. Silver, Bacterial resistance mechanisms for heavy metals of environmental concern, J. Ind. Microbiol. 14 (1995) 61–75.
- [3] B. Friedrich, E. Heine, A. Fink, C.G. Friedrich, Nickel requirement for active hydrogenase formation of *Alcaligenes eutrophus*, J. Bacteriol. 145 (1981) 1144–1149.
- [4] C. Van Baalen, R. O'Donnell, Isolation of a nickel-dependent blue-green alga, J. Gen. Microbiol. 105 (1978) 351–353.
- [5] L.E. Hersman, J.H. Forsythe, L.O. Ticknor, P.A. Maurice, Growth of *Pseudomonas* mendocina on Fe(III) (hydr)oxides, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67 (10) (2001) 4448–4453.
- [6] D.K. Wood, G. Tchobanoglous, Trace elements in biological waste treatment, J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 47 (1975) 1933–1945.
- [7] J.E. Burgess, J. Quarmby, T. Stephenson, Role of micronutrients in activated sludge-based biotreatment of industrial effluents, Biotechnol. Adv. 17 (1999) 49–70.
- [8] B. Jefferson, J.E. Burgess, A. Pichon, J. Harkness, S.J. Judd, Nutrient addition to enhance biological treatment of graywater, Water Res. 35 (11) (2001) 2702–2710.
- [9] M.M. Bagby, J.H. Sherrard, Combined effects of cadmium and nickel on the activated sludge process, J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 53 (11) (1981) 1609–1619.
- [10] A. Garcia-Toledo, H. Babich, G. Stotzky, Training Rhizopus stolonifer and Cunninghamella blakesleeana to Copper: Cotolerance to Cadmium, Cobalt, Nickel and Lead, Can. J. Microbiol. 31 (1985) 485–492.
- [11] P. Gikas, P. Romanos, Effects of tri-valent (Cr(III)) and hexa-valent (Cr(VI)) chromium on the growth rate of activated sludge, J. Hazard. Mater. B133 (2006) 212–217.
- [12] P. Gikas, Kinetic responses of activated sludge to individual and joint nickel (Ni(II)) and cobalt (Co(II)): an isobolographic approach, J. Hazard. Mater. 143 (2007) 246–256.
- [13] P.L. McCarthy, Anaerobic waste treatment fundamentals, part III. Toxic materials and their control, Public Works 95 (11) (1964) 91–94.
- [14] H. Babich, G. Stotzky, Sensitivity of various bacteria, including actinomycetes, and fungi to cadmium and the influence of pH on sensitivity, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 33 (3) (1977) 681–695.
- [15] R.K. Sani, B. Peyton, M. Jandhyala, Toxicity of lead in aqueous medium to Desulfovibrio desulfuricans G20, Environ. Technol. Chem. 22 (2) (2003) 252–260.
- [16] T.R. Sanrdin, R.M. Maier, Effect of pH on cadmium toxicity, speciation, and accumulation during naphthalene biodegradation, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 21 (10) (2002) 2075–2079.

- [17] A.S. Stasinakis, D. Mamais, N.S. Thomaidis, T.D. Lekkas, Effect of chromium (VI) on bacterial kinetics of heterotrophic biomass of activated sludge, Water Res. 36 (2002) 3341–3349.
- [18] M.T. Hunter, J.C. Painter, W.W. Eckenfelder, The effects of sludge age and metal concentration on copper equilibrium in the activated sludge process, Environ. Technol. Lett. 4 (1983) 475–484.
- [19] G. Josi-Tope, A.J. Francis, Mechanisms of biodegradation of metal-citrate complexes by Pseudomonas fluorescens, J. Bacteriol. 177 (1995) 1989–1993.
- [20] F.H.A. Shehata, B.A. Whitton, Zinc tolerance in strains of blue-green algae, Anacystis nidulans, Br. Phycol. J. 17 (1982) 5-12.
- [21] A.C. Borges, A.C. Wollum, A field study of a soil-soybean plant-Rhizobium system amended with cadmium, J. Environ. Q. 9 (1980) 420-423.
- [22] J.S. Angle, R.L. Chaney, Cadmium resistance screening in nitrilotriacetatebuffered minimal media, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 55 (8) (1989) 2101–2104.
- [23] T. Ginn, S.S. Sengor, S. Barua, J. Moberly, B. Peyton, Metal toxicity effects on microbial growth and degradation, in: Slovenia and U.S. Workshop on Environmental Science and Engineering, Ljubljana, Slovenia, 2006, pp. 39–40.
- [24] S.Y. Chang, J.C. Huang, Y.C. Liu, Effects of Cd(II) and Cu(II) on a biofilm system, J. Environ. Eng. 112 (1986) 94-104.
- [25] F.B. Dilek, C.F. Gokcay, U. Yetis, Combined effects of Ni(II) and Cr(VI) on activated sludge, Water Res. 32 (2) (1998) 303–312.
- [26] K.E. Giller, E. Witter, S.P. McGrath, Toxicity of heavy metals to microorganisms and microbial processes in agricultural soils: a review, Soil Biol. Biochem. 30 (10/11) (1998) 1389–1414.
- [27] D.H. Nies, Resistance to cadmium, cobalt, zinc, and nickel in microbes, Plasmid 27 (1992) 17–28.
- [28] B.W. Brandt, F.D.L. Kelpin, I.M.M. van Leeuwen, S.A.L.M. Kooijman, Modelling microbial adaptation to changing availability of substrates, Water Res. 38 (4) (2004) 1003–1013.
- [29] S. Silver, L.T. Phung, Bacterial heavy metal resistance: new surprises, Ann. Rev. Microbiol. 50 (1996) 753–789.
- [30] S. Silver, Bacterial resistances to toxic metal ions—a review, Gene 179 (1996) 9–19.
- [31] A.O. Summers, Metal resistance losi of bacterial plasmids, in: D.G. White, M.N. Alekshun, P.F. McDermott (Eds.), Frontiers in antimicrobial resistance: a tribute to Stuart B. Levy, ASM Press, Washington DC, 2005, pp. 165–173.
- [32] S. Silver, M. Walderhaug, Gene regulation and chromosome-determined inorganic ion transport in bacteria, Microbiol. Rev. 56 (1992) 195–228.
- [33] D.J.B. Dalzell, S. Alte, E. Aspichueta, A. de la Sota, J. Etxebarria, M. Gutierrez, C.C. Hoffmann, D. Sales, U. Obst, N. Christofi, A comparison of five rapid direct toxicity assessment methods to determine toxicity of pollutants to activated sludge, Chemosphere 47 (2002) 535–545.
- [34] S. Sujarittanonta, J.H. Sherrard, Activated sludge nickel toxicity studies, J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 53 (4) (1981) 1314–1322.
- [35] C.D. Boswell, R.E. Dick, L.E. Macaskie, The effect of heavy metals and other environmental conditions on the anaerobic phosphate metabolism of *Actinobacter johnsonii*, Microbiology 145 (1999) 1711–1720.
- [36] P. Battistoni, G. Fava, M.L. Ruello, Heavy metal shock load in activated sludge uptake and toxic effects, Water Res. 27 (5) (1993) 821–827.
- [37] A. Mowat, Measurement of metal toxicity by biochemical oxygen demand, J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 48 (5) (1976) 853–866.
- [38] G.M. Alsop, G.T. Waggy, R.A. Conway, Bacterial growth inhibition test, J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 52 (10) (1980) 2452–2456.
- [39] Z. Lewandowski, K. Janta, J. Mazierski, Inhibition coefficient (K_i) determination in activated sludge, Water Res. 19 (5) (1985) 671–674.
- [40] G. Almanza, L.E. Cruz, M.C. Diaz-Baez, Rapid toxicity assessment of watersoluble chemicals using a fed-batch reactor technique, Environ. Toxicol. Water Q. Int. J. 11 (1996) 273–276.
- [41] M.A. Ainsworth, C.P. Tompsett, A.C.R. Dean, Cobalt and nickel sensitivity and tolerance in *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, Microbios 27 (1980) 175–184.
- [42] M.O. Benka-Coker, J.A. Ekundayo, Effects of heavy metals on growth of species of *Micrococcus* and *Pseudomonas* in a crude oil/mineral salts medium, Bioresour. Technol. 66 (1998) 241–245.
- [43] A. Mariscal, A. Garcia, M. Carnero, J. Gomez, A. Pinedo, J. Fernandez-Crehuet, Evaluation of the toxicity of several heavy metals by fluorescent bacterial bioassay, J. Appl. Toxicol. 15 (2) (1995) 103–107.
- [44] C.J. Kelly, N. Tumsaroj, C.A. Lajoie, Assessing wastewater metal toxicity with bacterial bioluminescence in a bench-scale wastewater treatment system, Water Res. 38 (2004) 423–431.
- [45] J.C. Codina, A. Perez-Garcia, A. de Vicente, Detection of heavy metal toxicity and genotoxicity in wastewaters by microbial assay, Water Sci. Technol. 30 (10) (1994) 145–151.
- [46] S. Cathum, D. Velicogna, A. Obenauf, A. Dumouchel, M. Punt, C.E. Brown, J. Ridal, Detoxification of mercury in the environment, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 381 (8) (2005) 1491–1498.
- [47] M.C. Casado-Martinez, N. Fernandez, J.M. Forja, T.A. DelValls, Liquid versus solid phase bioassays for the dredged material toxicity assessment, Environ. Int. 33 (4) (2007) 456–462.
- [48] E.U. Cokgol, S. Ozdemir, O. Karahan, G. Insel, D. Orhon, Critical appraisal of respirometric methods for metal inhibition on activated sludge, J. Hazard. Mater. 139 (2) (2007) 332–339.
- [49] L.H. Lee, B. Lustigman, Effects of barium and nickel on the growth of Anacystis nidulans, Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 56 (1996) 985–992.
- [50] J.R. Lawrence, M.R. Chenier, R. Roy, D. Beaumier, N. Fortin, G.D.W. Swernone, T.R. Neu, C.W. Greer, Microscale and molecular assessment of impacts of

nickel, nutrients, and oxygen level on structure and function of river biofilm communities, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70 (7) (2004) 4326–4339.

- [51] S.S. Sengor, Biogeochemical cycling of heavy metals in benthic sediments of lake Coeur d'Alene, Ph.D. thesis, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of California, 2007.
- [52] S.J. Sun, J. Xu, S.G. Dai, X. Han, Influence of copper speciation on toxicity to microorganisms in soils, Biomed. Environ. Sci. 19 (6) (2006) 409–413.
- [53] M.G.C. Baldry, D.S. Hogarth, A.C.R. Dean, Chromium and copper sensitivity and tolerance in *Klebsiella (Aerobacter) aerogenes*, Microbios Lett. 4 (1977) 7–16.
 [54] H. Babich, G. Stotzky, Synergism between nickel and copper in their toxicity
- to microbes: mediation by pH, Ecotoxical. Environ. Saf. 7 (1983) 576–587.
- [55] E.R. Christensen, J. Scherfig, P.S. Dixon, Effects of manganese, copper and lead on Senastrum capricornutum and Cholorella stigmatophora, Water Res. 13 (1979) 79–92.
- [56] P.V.D. Prasad, P.S.D. Prasad, Effect of cadmium, lead and nickel on three freshwater green algae, Water Air Soil Pollut. 17 (1982) 263–268.
- [57] W.P. Norwood, U. Borgmann, D.G. Dixon, A. Wallace, Effects of metal mixtures on aquatic biota: a review of observations and methods, Hum. Ecol. Risk Assess. 9 (4) (2003) 795–811.
- [58] ANZECC and ARMCANZ (Australian and New Zealand Environment and Conservation Council and Agricultural and Resource Management Council of Australia and New Zealand), Australian and New Zealand Guidelines for Fresh and Marine Water Quality, ISBN 09578245 0 5; ISSN 1038 7072 1&2, 2000.
- [59] J.B. Sprague, Measurement of pollutant toxicity to fish. II: Utilizing and applying bioassay results, Water Res. 4 (1970) 3–32.
- [60] A. Cabrero, S. Fernandez, F. Mirada, J. Garcia, Effects of copper and zinc on the activated sludge bacteria growth kinetics, Water Res. 32 (1998) 1355–1362.
- [61] A. Kortenkamp, R. Altenburger, Synergism with mixtures of xenoestrogens: a reevaluation using the method of isoboles, Sci. Total Environ. 221 (1998) 59–73.
- [62] M.C. Berenbaum, The expected effect of a combination of agents: the general solution, J. Theor. Biol. 114 (1985) 413–431.
- [63] W.D. Wessinger, Approaches to the study of drug interactions in behavioral pharmacology, Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 10 (2) (1986) 103–113.
- [64] P.K. Gessner, B.E. Cabana, A study of the interaction of the hypnotic effects and of the toxic effects of chloral hydrate and ethanol, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Therapeut. 174 (2) (1970) 247–259.
- [65] P.K. Gessner, A straightforward method for the study of drug interactions: an isobolographic analysis primer, J. Am. College Toxicol. 7 (7) (1988) 987–1011.
- [66] T.R. Fraser, An experimental research on the antagonism between the actions of physostigma and atropia, Proc. R. Soc. Edinburgh 7 (1870–1871) 506–511.
- [67] T.R. Fraser, The antagonism between the actions of active substances, Br. Med. J. 2 (1872) 485–487.
- [68] S. Loewe, H. Muischnek, The effects of combinations: 1. Mathematical basis of the problem, Arch. Exp. Pathol. Pharmakol. 114 (1926) 313–326 (article in German).
- [69] S. Loewe, The problem of synergism and antagonism of combined drugs, Arzneimittelforchung 3 (1953) 285–290 (article in German).
- [70] M.C. Berenbaum, Criteria for analyzing interactions between biologically effective active agents, Adv. Cancer Res. 35 (1981) 269–335.
- [71] CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2006.
- [72] M. Audet, A.F. Ross (Eds.), Koniambo Lateritic Ni–Co Deposits, New Caledonia; A Case Study from Geological modelling to Mineral Resource Classification, vol. 14, GeoRef, Canbera, Australia, 2005, pp. 215–224.
- [73] M. Economou-Eliopoulos, Apatite and Mn-, Zn-, Co-enriched chromite in Ni-laterites of Northern Greece and their genetic significance, J. Geochem. Explorat. 80 (1) (2003) 41–54.
- [74] A.I. Vogel, Vogel's Qualitative Inorganic Analysis, Longman Scientific and Technical, England, 1987.
- [75] J.R. Lloyd, Microbial reduction of metals and radionuclides, FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 27 (2–3) (2003) 411–425.
- [76] C. Liu, Y.A. Gorby, J.M. Zachara, J.K. Fredrickson, C.F. Brown, Reduction kinetics of Fe(III), Co(III), U(III), Cr(VI), and Tc(VII) in cultures of dissimulatory metalreducing bacteria, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 80 (6) (2002) 637–649.
- [77] Y. Liu, E. Sletten, Interaction between macrocyclic nickel complexes and the nucleotides GMP, AMP and ApG, J. Inorg. Biochem. 93 (3-4) (2003) 190–196.
- [78] D. Ankel-Fuchs, R.K. Thauer (Eds.), Nickel as an Essential Trace Element, VCH Publishers, Inc., New York, 1988, pp. 93–110.
- [79] D.H. Nies, Microbial heavy-metal resistance, Appl. Microbial Biotechnol. 51 (1999) 730–750.
- [80] R.P. Hausinger, Nickel utilization by microorganisms, Microbiol. Rev. 51 (1987) 22–42.
- [81] T. Maier, A. Jacobi, M. Sauter, A. Bock, The product of the hypB gene, which is required for nickel incorporation into hydrogenases, is a novel guanine nucleotide protein, J. Bacteriol. 175 (1993) 630–635.
- [82] J.M. Collard, P. Corbisier, L. Diels, Q. Dong, C. Jeanthon, M. Mergeay, S. Taghavi, D. van der Lelie, A. Wilmotte, S. Wuertz, Plasmids for heavy metal resistance in *Alcaligenes eutrophus* CH34: mechanisms and applications, FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 14 (1994) 405–414.
- [83] S.W. Ragsdale, Nickel biochemistry, Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2 (2) (1998) 208–215.
- [84] S.B. Mulrooney, R.P. Hausinger, Nickel uptake and utilization by microorganisms, FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 27 (2–3) (2003) 239–261.
- [85] E.J. Kim, H.J. Chung, B.S. Suh, Y.C. Han, J.H. Roe, Transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation by nickel of sodN gene encoding nickel-containing

superoxide dismutase from *Streptomyces coelicolor* Muller, Mol. Microbiol. 27 (1998) 187–195.

- [86] L.E. Henriksson, F.J. DaSilva, Effects of some inorganic elements on nitrogenfixation in blue-green algae and some ecological aspects of pollution, Zeitschrift fur Allgemeine Microbiol. 18 (7) (1978) 487–494.
- [87] R. Tabillion, F. Weber, H. Kaltwasser, Nickel requirement for chemolithotrophic growth in hydrogen-oxidizing bacteria, Arch. Microbiol. 124 (1980) 131–136.
- [88] B.M. Babior, Coblamin: Biochemistry and Pathopysiology, Wiley, New York, 1975.
- [89] A.R. Battersby, Biosynthesis of Vitamin B_{12} , Acc. Chem. Res. 26 (1993) 15–21.
- [90] M. Kobayashi, S. Shimizu, Cobalt proteins, Eur. J. Biochem. 261 (1999) 1–9.
 [91] M. Kobayashi, S. Shimizu, Metalloenzyme nitrile hydratase: structure, regu-
- lation, and application to biotechnology, Nat. Biotechnol. 16 (1998) 733–736.
 [92] C. Evans, G.C. Mason, Studies on the stimulation of the bacterial, collagenolytic enzyme clostridiopeptidase a by cobalt (II) ions, Int. J. Biochem. 18 (1) (1986)
- 89–92.[93] C.-Y. Lin, Effect of heavy metals on the acitogenesis in anaerobic digestion, Water Res. 27 (1) (1993) 147–152.
- [94] M.H. Zandvoort, J. Gieteling, G. Lettinga, P.N.L. Lens, Stimulation of methanol degradation in UASB reactors: in situ versus pre-loading cobalt on anaerobic granular sludge. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 87 (7) (2004) 897–904.
- [95] S.K. Patidar, V. Tare, Influence of nutrients on biomass evolution in an upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactor degrading sulfate-laden organics, Water Environ. Res. 76 (7) (2004) 2620–2627.
- [96] H. Liesegang, K. Lemke, R.A. Siddiqui, H.G. Schlegel, Characterization of the inducible nickel and cobalt resistance determinant CNR from pMOL28 of *Alcaligenes eutroficus* CH34, J. Bacteriol. 175 (3) (1993) 767–778.
- [97] G. Grass, C. Grosse, D.H. Nies, Regulation of the *cnr* cobalt and nickel resistance determinant from *Ralstonia* sp. strain CH34, J. Bacteriol. 182 (5) (2000) 1390–1398.
- [98] T.V. Siunova, V.V. Kochetkov, S.Z. Validov, N.E. Suzina, A.M. Boronin, The production of phenazine antibiotics by the *Pseudomonas aureofaciens* strain with plasmid-controlled resistance to cobalt and nickel, Microbiologiya 71 (6) (2002) 778–785 (article in Russian).
- [99] O. Dagen, T. Eitinger, Substrate specificity of nickel/cobalt permeases: insights from mutants altered in transmembrane domains I and II, J. Bacteriol. 184 (2002) 3569–3577.
- [100] M.H. Geradi, Effects of heavy metals upon the biological wastewater treatment process, Public Works 117 (1986) 77–80.
- [101] G. Gonzalez-Gil, R. Kleerebezem, G. Lettinga, Effects of nickel and cobalt on kinetics of methanol conversion by methanogenic sludge as assessed by online CH₄ monitoring, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65 (4) (1999) 1789–1793.
- [102] S. Sathyanarayana Rao, E.G. Srinath, Influence of cobalt on the synthesis of Vitamin B₁₂ in sewage during aerobic and anaerobic treatment, J. Sci. Indian Res. 20C (1961) 261–265.
- [103] C.F. Gokcay, U. Yetis, Effect of nickel(II) on the biomass yield of the activated sludge, Water Sci. Technol. 34 (5-6) (1996) 163-171.
- [104] R. Bartha, E.J. Ordal, Nickel-dependent chemolithotrophic growth of two Hydrogenomonas strains, J. Bacteriol. 89 (4) (1965) 1015–1019.
- [105] R. Tabillion, H. Kaltwasser, Energy-dependent 63Ni-uptake by Alcaligenes eutrophus strains H1 and H16, Arch. Microbiol. 113 (1977) 145–151 (in German).
- [106] Y. Maeda, T. Azumi, Accumulation of heavy metals by activated sludge, J. Ferment. Technol. 60 (6) (1982) 545–550.
- [107] U. Yetis, C.F. Gokcay, Effect of nickel(II) on activated sludge, Water Res. 23 (8) (1989) 1003–1007.
- [108] S.-A. Ong, E. Toorisaka, M. Hirata, T. Hano, Effects of nickel(II) addition on the activity of activated sludge microorganisms and activated sludge process, J. Hazard. Mater. B113 (2004) 111–121.
- [109] J.D. Bryers, Biofilm formation and chemostat dynamics: pure and mixed culture considerations, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 26 (1984) 948–958.
- [110] P. Gikas, P. Romanos, Activated sludge growth stimulation and inhibition by Cr(III), Cr(VI), Ni(II) and Cd(II), in: 8th Conference on the Protection and Restoration of the Environment, Chania, Greece, 2006.
- [111] B. Arican, U. Yetis, Nickel sorption by acclimatized activated sludge culture, Water Res. 37 (2003) 3508–3516.
- [112] G.N. McDermott, M.A. Post, B.N. Jackson, M.B. Ettinger, Nickel in relation to activated sludge and anaerobic digestion process, J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 37 (2) (1965) 163–177.
- [113] K.-Y. Wong, M.-Q. Zhang, X.-M. Li, W. Lo, A luminescence-based scanning respirometer for heavy metal toxicity monitoring, Biosens. Bioelectron. 12 (2) (1997) 125–133.
- [114] H. Heukelekian, I. Gellman, Studies of biochemical oxidation by direct methods, Sewage Ind. Wastes 27 (1) (1955) 70–84.
- [115] I. Guclu, O. Karahan, S. Ozdemír, L. Pala, T. Katipoglu, E. Cokgor, D. Orhon, Unified basis for the respirometric evaluation of inhibition for activated sludge, J. Environ. Sci. Health Part A 41 (2006) 1763–1780.
- [116] A. Rehman, F.R. Shakoori, A.R. Shakoori, Uptake of heavy metals by a ciliate, *Tachysoma pellionella*, isolated from industrial effluents and its potential use in bioremediation of toxic wastewater, Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 77 (3) (2006) 469–476.
- [117] A. Rehman, F.R. Shakoori, A.R. Shakoori, Heavy metal resistant ciliate, *Euplotes mutabilis*, isolated from industrial effluents can decontaminate wastewater of heavy metals, Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 76 (6) (2006) 907–913.

- [118] A. Martin-Gonzalez, S. Diaz, S. Bormiquel, A. Gallego, J.C. Gutierrez, Cytotoxicity and bioaccumulation of heavy metals by ciliated protozoa isolated from urban wastewater treatment plants, Res. Microbiol. 157 (2) (2006) 108–118.
- [119] F. Principi, F. Villa, M. Bernasconi, E. Zanardini, Metal toxicity in municipal wastewater activated sludge investigated by multivariate analysis and *in situ* hybridization, Water Res. 40 (1) (2006) 99–106.
- [120] A.S. Stasinakis, N.S. Thomaidis, D. Mamais, E.C. Papanikolaou, A. Tsakon, T.D. Lekkas, Effects of chromium (IV) addition on activated sludge process, Water Res. 37 (2003) 2140–2148.
- [121] J. Mazierski, Effect of chromium (Cr^{VI}) on the growth rate of denitrifying bacteria, Water Res. 28 (9) (1994) 1981–1985.
- [122] Z. Hu, K. Chandran, D. Grasso, B.F. Smets, Effect of nickel and cadmium speciation on nitrification inhibition, Environ. Sci. Technol. 36 (2002) 3074–3078.
- [123] Z. Hu, K. Chandran, D. Grasso, B.F. Smets, Comparison of nitrification inhibition by metals in batch and continuous flow reactors, Water Res. 38 (2004) 3949–3959.
- [124] Z. Hu, K. Chandran, D. Grasso, B.F. Smets, Impact of metal sorption and internalization on nitrification inhibition, Environ. Sci. Technol. 37 (2003) 728–734.
- [125] G. Fait, K. Bross, C. Zrna, E. Lombi, R. Hamon, Tolerence of nitrifying bacteria to copper and nickel, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 25 (8) (2006) 2000–2005.
- [126] C. Geslin, J. Llanos, D. Prieur, C. Jeanthon, The manganese and iron superoxide dismutases protect *Escherichia coli* from heavy metal toxicity, Res. Microbiol. 152 (2001) 901–905.
- [127] H. Babich, M. Schiffenbauer, G. Stotzky, Sensitivity of coliphage T1 to nickel in fresh and salt waters, Curr. Microbiol. 8 (1983) 101–105.
- [128] L. Amor, C. Kennes, M.C. Veiga, Kinetics of inhibition in the biodegradation of monoaromatic hydrocarbons in presence of heavy metals, Bioresour. Technol. 78 (2001) 181–185.
- [129] P. Visca, G. Colotti, L. Serino, D. Verzili, N. Orsi, E. Chiancone, Metal regulation of siderophore synthesis in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and functional effects of siderophore-metal complexes, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 58 (9) (1992) 2886–2893.
- [130] H. Babich, G. Stotzky, Nickel toxicity to microbes: effect of pH and implications for acid rain, Environ. Res. 29 (1982) 335–350.
- [131] A.Q. Al-Sarrani, Growth responses of *Monoascus ruber* teigh, to toxicity of certain metals in the presence of ascorbic acid, Egypt. J. Microbiol. 36 (2) (2001) 147–160.
- [132] A.B. Cobet, C. Wirsen, G.E. Jones, The effect of nickel on a marine bacterium, *Arthobacter marinus* sp., J. Gen. Microbiol. 62 (1970) 159–169.
 [133] M.E.H. Osman, A.H. El-Naggar, M.M. El-Sheekh, E.E. El Mazally, Differential
- [133] M.E.H. Osman, A.H. El-Naggar, M.M. El-Sheekh, E.E. El Mazally, Differential Effects of Co²⁺ and Ni²⁺ on protein metabolism in *Scenedesmus obliquus* and *Nizschia perminuta*, Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 16 (2004) 169–178.
- [134] S.B. Angadi, P. Mathad, Effect of chromium and nickel on Scenedesmus quadricauda (Turp.) de Breb, Phykos 33 (1 and 2) (1994) 99–103.
- [135] L.C. Rai, M. Raizada, Nickel induced stimulation of growth, heterocyst differentiation, ¹⁴CO₂ uptake and nitrogenase activity in *Nostoc muscorum*, New Phytol. 104 (1986) 111–114.
- [136] L.C. Rai, M. Raizada, Effect of bimetallic combinations of Ni, Cr, and Pb on growth, uptake of nitrate and ammonia, ¹⁴CO₂ fixation, and nitrogenase activity of *Nostoc muscorum*, Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 17 (1989) 75–85.
- [137] P.K. Wong, L. Chang, Effects of copper, chromium and nickel on growth, photosynthesis and chlorophyll *a* synthesis of *Chlorella pyrenoidosa* 251, Environ. Pollut. 72 (1991) 127–139.
- [138] R.K. Asthana, S.P. Singh, R.K. Singh, Nickel effects on phosphate uptake, alkaline phosphatase, and ATPase of a cyanobacterium, Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 48 (1992) 45–54.
- [139] T. Duxbury, Toxicity of heavy metals to soil bacteria, FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 11 (1981) 217–220.
- [140] T. Schmidt, H.G. Schlegel, Nickel and cobalt resistance of various bacteria isolated from soil and highly polluted domestic and industrial wastes, FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 62 (1989) 315–328.
- [141] D. Springael, L. Diels, L. Hooyberghs, S. Kreps, M. Mergeay, Construction and characterization of heavy metal-resistant haloaromatic-degrading *Alcaligenes eutotrophus* strains, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 59 (1) (1993) 334–339.
- [142] L. Otth, G. Solis, M. Wilson, H. Fernandez, Susceptibility of Accobacter butzleri to heavy metals, Brazil. J. Microbiol. 36 (2005) 286–288.
- [143] M. Mergeay, D. Nies, H.G. Schlegel, J. Gertis, P. Charles, F. Van Gijsegem, Alcaligenes eutrophus CH34 is a facultative chemolithotroph with plasmid-bound resistance to heavy metals, J. Bacteriol. 162 (1) (1985) 328–334.
- [144] A. Magyarosy, R.D. Laidlaw, R. Kilaas, C. Echer, D.S. Clark, J.D. Keasling, Nickel accumulation and nickel oxalate precipitation by *Aspergillus niger*, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 59 (2002) 382–388.
- [145] J. Rubikas, D. Matulis, A. Laipus, D. Urbaitiene, Nickel resistance in *Escherichia coli* V38 is dependent on the concentration used for induction, FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 155 (1997) 193–198.
- [146] P. Kaur, K. Ross, R.A. Siddiqui, H.G. Schlegel, Nickel resistance of Alcaligenes denitrificans strain 4a-2 is chromosomally coded, Arch. Microbiol. 154 (1990) 133–138.
- [147] A. Pal, P. Choudhuri, S. Dutta, P.K. Mukherjee, A.K. Paul, Isolation and characterization of nickel-resistant microflora from serpentine soils of Andaman, World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 20 (2004) 881–886.
- [148] A. Mengoni, R. Barzanti, C. Gonnelli, R. Gabbrielli, M. Bazzicalupo, Characterization of nickel-resistant bacteria isolated from serpentine soil, Environ. Microbiol. 3 (2001) 691–708.

- [149] H.G. Schlegel, J.P. Cosson, J.M. Baker, Nickel hyperaccumulating plants provide the niche for nickel resistant bacteria, Bot. Acta 104 (1991) 18–25.
- [150] A.R. Hashem, A.H. Bahkali, Toxicity of cobalt and nickel to Fusarium solani isolated from Saudi Arabian Soil, Qatar Univ. Sci. J. 14 (1) (1994) 63–65.
- [151] T. Schmidt, R.-D. Stoppel, H.G. Schlegel, High-level nickel resistance in Alcaligenes xylosoxydans 31A and Alcaligenes eutrophus KTO2, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 57 (11) (1991) 3301–3309.
- [152] R.-D. Stoppel, H.G. Schlegel, Nickel-resistant bacteria from anthropogenically nickel-polluted and naturally nickel-percolated ecosystems, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 61 (6) (1995) 2276–2285.
- [153] S. Congeevaram, S. Dhanarani, J. Park, M. Dexilin, K. Thamaraiselbvi, Biosorption of chromium and nickel by heavy metal resistant fungal and bacterial isolates, J. Hazard. Mater. 146 (1-2) (2007) 270–277.
- [154] R.A.P. Thomas, A.J. Beswick, G. Basnakova, R. Moller, L.E. Macaskie, Growth of naturally occurring microbial isolates in metal-citrate medium and bioremediation of metal-citrate wastes, J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 75 (2000) 187–195.
- [155] A. Rodrigue, G. Effantin, M.-A. Mandrand-Berthelot, Identification of rcnA (yohM), a nickel and cobalt resistance Gene in Escherichia coli, J. Bacteriol. 187 (8) (2005) 2912–2916.
- [156] C.G. Friedrich, K. Schneider, B. Friedrich, Nickel in the catalytically active hydrogenase of Alcaligenes eutrophus, J. Bacteriol. 152 (1) (1982) 42-48.
- [157] K. Schneider, R. Cammack, H.G. Schlegel, Content and localization of FMN, Fe–S clusters and nickel in the NAD-linked hydrogenase of *Nocardia opaca* 1b, Eur. J. Biochem. 142 (1) (1984) 75–84.
- [158] K. Schneider, H.G. Schlegel, K. Jochim, Effects of nickel on activity and subunit composition of purified hydrogenese from *Nocardia opaca* 1b, Eur. J. Biochem. 138 (3) (1984) 533–541.
- [159] R. Repaske, R. Mayer, Dense autotrophic cultures of Alcaligenes eutrophus, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 32 (4) (1976) 592–597.
- [160] R.A. Siddiqui, H.G. Schlegel, M. Meyer, Inducible and constitutive expression of pMOL28-encoded nickel: resistance in *Alcaligenes eutrophus* N9A, J. Bacteriol. 170 (9) (1988) 4188–4193.
- [161] H. Babich, G. Stotzky, Further studies on environmental factors that modify the toxicity of nickel to microbes, Regul. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 3 (1983) 82–89.
- [162] H. Babich, G. Stotzky, Toxicity of nickel to microorganisms in soil: influence of some physicochemical characteristics, environmental pollution series A, Ecol. Biol. 29 (4) (1982) 303–315.
- [163] D.A. Pearce, F. Sherman, Toxicity of copper, cobalt, and nickel salts is dependent on histidine metabolism in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, J. Bacteriol. 181 (16) (1999) 4774–4779.
- [164] H. Babich, G. Stotzky, Temperature, pH, salinity, hardness and particulates mediate nickel toxicity to eubacteria and actinomycete, and yeast in lake, simulated eustuarine and seawater, Aquat. Toxicol. 3 (1983) 195–208.
- [165] H. Gimmler, J. de Jesus, A. Greiser, Heavy metal resistance of extreme acidotoleranct filamentous fungus *Bispora* sp., Microbial Ecol. 42 (2001) 87–98.
- [166] J.D. Van Nostrand, T.V. Khijnaiak, A.G. Sowder, P.M. Bertsch, P.J. Morris, The impact of pH on microbial Ni toxicity, 101st General Meeting, vol. session no. 74/Q, Abstract Q-126, American Society for Microbiology, Orlando, FL, USA, 2001, p. 608.
- [167] J.D. Van Nostrand, A.G. Sowder, P.M. Bertsch, P.J. Morris, Effect of pH on the toxicity of nickel and other divalent metals to *Burkholderia cepacia* PR1301, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 24 (11) (2005) 2742–2750.
- [168] L.C. Rai, M. Raizada, Effect of nickel and silver ions on survival, growth, carbon fixation and nitrogenase activity in *Nostoc muscorum*: regulation of toxicity by EDTA and calcium, J. Gen. Appl. Microbiol. 31 (1985) 329–337.
- [169] E.J. Arcuri, H.L. Ehrlich, Influence of hydrostatic pressure on the effects of heavy metal cations of manganese, copper, cobalt, and nickel on the growth of tree deep-sea bacterial isolates, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 33 (2) (1977) 282–288.
- [170] S.H. Yang, H.L. Ehrlich, Effect of four heavy metals (Mn, Ni, Cu and Co) on some bacteria from the deep sea, in: J.M. Miles, A.M. Kaplan (Eds.), Proceedings of the 3rd International Biodegradation Symposium, Applied Science Publishers, London, 1976.
- [171] P.R. Adiga, K. Sivarama Sastry, V. Venkatasubramanyam, P.S. Sarma, Interrelationships in trace-element metabolism in *Aspegillus niger*, Biochem. J. 81 (1961) 545–550.
- [172] P.R. Norris, D.P. Kelly, Accumulation of metals by bacteria and yeast, Dev. Ind. Microbiol. 20 (1979) 299–308.
- [173] H. Babich, G. Stotzky, Nickel toxicity to fungi: influence of environmental factors, Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 6 (1982) 577–589.
- [174] N. Sultana, M.S. Arayne, R. Sabri, Erythromycin synergism with essential and trace elements, Pakistan J. Pharm. Sci. 18 (2) (2005) 35–39.
- [175] Y.-F. Fang, F.-K. Lin, Z. Lu, Nutrient supplements to optimize treatment of industrial wastewater by activated sludge system, Technol. Water Treat. 32 (9) (2006) 15–18 (article in Chinese).
- [176] P. Piveteau, F. Fayolle, J.-P. Vandecasteele, F. Monot, Biodegradation of tertbutyl alcohol and related xenobiotics by methylotrophic bacterial isolate, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 55 (2001) 369–373.
- [177] A.S. Abbas, C. Edwards, Effects of metals on *Streptomyces coelicolor* growth and actinorhodin production, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 56 (3) (1990) 675– 680.
- [178] A.M. Falih, Influence of heavy-metals toxicity on the growth of *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*, Bioresour. Technol. 60 (1997) 87–90.

- [179] W.F. Sayed, S.M. Mohaowad, M.M. Abd El-Karim, Effects of Al, Co, and Pb ions on the growth of *Frankia* spp. in a mineral medium, Folia Microbiol. 45 (2) (2000) 153–156.
- [180] W. Barabasz, B. Hetmanska, P. Tomasik, The metal-metal interactions in biological systems. Part I. Escherichia coli, Water Air Soil Pollut. 52 (1990) 337–357.
- [181] E. Graneli, L. Risinger, Effects of cobalt and vitamin B12 oh the growth of *Chrysochromulina polylepis* (Prymnesiophyceae), Marine Ecol. Prog. Series 113 (1994) 177–183.
- [182] J.W. Poskuta, Toxicity of heavy metals to growth, photosynthesis and respiration of *Chlorella pyrenoidosa* cells grown either in air or 1 percent carbon dioxide, Photosynthetica (Prague) 25 (2) (1991) 181–188.
- [183] A.H. El-Naggar, M.E.H. Osman, M.A. Dyad, E.A. El-Mohsenewy, Cobalt and lead toxicities on *Calothrix Fusca* and *Nostoc Muscorum*, J. Union Arab Biol. Bot. (Physiol. Algae) 7 (B) (1999) 421–441.
- [184] A.B. Norberg, N. Molin, Toxicity of cadmium, cobalt, uranium and zinc to Zoogloea ramigera, Water Res. 17 (10) (1983) 1333–1336.
- [185] B.-Y. Chen, C.-H. Wu, J.-S. Chang, An assessment of the toxicology of metals to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PU21 (Rip64), Bioresour. Technol. 97 (15) (2005) 1880–1886.
- [186] C. Guha, A. Mookerjee, RNA synthesis and degradation during preferential inhibition of protein synthesis by cobalt chloride in *Escherichia coli* K-12, Mol. Biol. Rep. 7 (1981) 217–220.
- [187] O. Garcia Jr., L.L. da Silva, Differences in growth and iron oxidation among *Thiobacillus ferooxidans* cultures in the presence of some toxic metals, Biotechnol. Lett. 13 (8) (1991) 567–570.
- [188] D. Kothamasi, S. Kothamasi, Cobalt interference in iron-uptake could inhibit growth in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 20 (2004) 755–758.
- [189] L.H. Lee, B. Lustigman, I.-Y. Chu, S. Hsu, Effects of lead and cobalt on the growth of Anacystis nidulans, Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 48 (1992) 230–236.
- [190] S.E. Plekhanov, I.A. Zholdakov, V.M. Maksimov, Characteristics of the growth and effectiveness of primary photosynthesis in *Scenedesmus quadricauda* culture in the presence of zinc, cadmium and cobalt, Vestnik Moskovskogo Universiteta Seriya XVI Biologiya 3 (1990) 68–73 (article in Russian).
- [191] B. Lustigman, L.H. Lee, C. Weiss-Magasic, Effects of cobalt and pH on the growth of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*, Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 55 (1995) 65–72.
- [192] V.I. Kostiaev, Reactions of cyanobacteria to certain heavy metals, Mikrobiologiia 49 (5) (1980) 821-824.
- [193] R.S. Jadhav, A. Desay, Effect of nutritional and environmental conditions on siderophore production by Cowpea *Rhizobium* GN1 (peanut isolate), Indian J. Exp. Biol. 34 (1996) 436–439.
- [194] A. Hassen, N. Saidi, M. Cherif, A. Boudabous, Resistance of environmental bacteria to heavy metals, Bioresour. Technol. 64 (1998) 7–15.
- [195] A. Hassen, N. Saidi, M. Cherif, A. Boudabous, Effects of heavy metals on *Pseu-domonas aeruginosa* and *Bacillus thuringiensis*, Bioresour. Technol. 65 (1998) 73–82.
- [196] G. Venkateswerlu, G. Stotzky, Copper and cobalt alter the cell wall composition of *Cunninghamella blakesleeana*, Can. J. Microbiol. 32 (1986) 654–661.
- [197] L.S. Sajani, P. Maruthi Mohan, Characterization of a cobalt-resistant mutant of *Neurospora crassa* with transport block, Biometals 10 (1997) 175–183.
- [198] L.S. Sajani, P. Maruthi Mohan, Cobalt resistance in *Neurospora crassa*: overproduction of a cobaltoprotein in a resistant strain, Biometals 11 (1998) 33-40.
- [199] M. Mergeay, C. Houba, J. Gertis, Extrachromosomal inheritance controlling resistance to cadmium, cobalt, copper and zinc ions: evidence from curing in a *Pseudomonas*, Arch. Int. Physiol. Biochem. 86 (2) (1978) 440–442.
- [200] M. Schmitt, G. Gellert, J. Ludwig, H. Lichtenberg-Frate, Phenotypic yeast growth analysis for chronic toxicity testing, Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 59 (2) (2004) 142–150.
- [201] N.M. Price, F.M.M. Morel, Cadmium and cobalt substitution for zinc in a marine diatom, Nature 344 (6267) (1990) 658–660.
- [202] W.G. Sunda, S.A. Huntsman, Cobalt and zinc interreplacement in marine phytoplankton: biological and geochemical implications, Limnol. Oceanogr. 40 (8) (1995) 1404–1417.
- [203] J.P. Chandy, Heavy metal tolerance in chromogenic and non-chromogenic marine bacteria from Arabian Gulf, Environ. Monit. Assess. 59 (1999) 321–330.
- [204] L.F. Wu, C. Navarro, K. de Pina, M. Quenard, M.A. Mandrand, Antagonistic effect of nickel on the fermantative growth of *Escherichia coli* K-12 and comparison of nickel and cobalt toxicity on the aerobic and anaerobic growth, Environ. Health Perspect. 102 (Suppl. 3) (1994) 297–300.
- [205] A. Ivanov, A.V. Gavriushkin, T.V. Siunova, L.A. Khasanova, Z.M. Khasanova, Resistance of certain strains of pseudomonas bacteria to toxic effect of heavy metal lons, Mikrobiologiia 68 (3) (1999) 366–374 (article in Russian).
- [206] M. Bhattacharya, P. Choudhury, R. Kumar, Antibiotic- and metal-resistant strains of Vibrio parahaemolyticus isolated from shrimps, Microbial Drug Resist. 6 (2) (2000) 171–172.
- [207] M.E. Losi, W.T. Frankenberger Jr., Chromium-resistant microorganisms isolated from evaporation ponds of a metal processing plant, Water Air Soil Pollut. 74 (1994) 405–413.
- [208] D.P. Cross, G. Ramachandran, E.V. Wattenberg, Mixtures of nickel and cobalt chloride effects: implications for exposure modeling, Ann. Occupat. Hygiene 45 (5) (2001) 409–418.
- [209] R. Repaske, A.C. Repaske, Quantitive requirements for exponential growth of Alcaligenes eutrophus, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 32 (4) (1976) 585–591.